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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”)
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only
after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it
is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility
for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and that there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein
or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Company Announcements” page of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com for at
least seven days from the date of its publication.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
2wl e

China CBM Group Company Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) currently conduct the business of
manufacture and sales of liquefied coalbed gas whose operations
are located in the PRC. The Company was incorporated in Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited liability in July
2002 and continued in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liabilities in accordance with the Company Act 1981 (as
amended) of Bermuda. It was initially listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on
12 August 2003.

The Group is principally engaged in the business of exploitation,
liquefaction production and sales of natural gas in the PRC.
Headquartered in Tianjin. The Group’s production of liquefied coalbed
gas is in Shanxi Qinshui Basin which boasts the richest liquefied
coalbed gas, while its distribution network extends to Shanxi,
Guangxi and Guangdong Provinces, etc.

In order to stabilise our natural gas supply and hence raise the
utilisation of our liquefied natural gas (‘LNG”) plant, the Group has
made significant investment in resources exploration and exploitation
at the coalbed methane blocks located in Yangcheng, Shanxi, since
July 2011. The Group had successfully supplied gas to the LNG
plant. The commercial production of coalbed gas has transformed
our Group into a vertically integrated natural gas company and
continued to enhance our leading position in China’s unconventional
gas market.

The Group will adhere to the principle of “social responsibility is of
overriding importance” while exploring and developing in the new
energy sector with an aim to provide the world with high-quality
clean energy and keep improving and promoting the harmonious
coexistence of man and nature.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the audited financial results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2015.

OVERALL BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, we have achieved the goal of turning
ourselves into a vertically integrated natural gas producer with
complete value chain businesses. We have established a complete
business process covering CBM extraction, liquefaction, pipelines and
highway transportation, distribution network and technical services.
As at 31 December 2015, we have completed the ground work and
drilling of 274 wells in the Yangcheng gas block which resulted in
stable increase of the number of production wells and gas output.
The gas supply pipeline connecting Yangcheng gas block Huiyang
Company (“Huiyang Company”) and Qinshui Shuntai LNG Plant was
constructed and put into operation. As Huiyang Company started
supply of CBM extracted by it to Qinshui Shuntai LNG Plant, the plant
is able to secure more stable gas supply and ready to further improve
its utilisation and production cost structure. The supply constraints
are gradually unleashing, and we will continue to focus on improving
output of production wells and constructing new wells in 2016.

EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION
BUSINESS REVIEW

During 2015, the construction of new wells was somewhat impacted
by our focus on improving capabilities of production wells. However,
the unremitting efforts of the management resulted in encouraging
progress in the construction of new wells. As at 31 December
2015, we have completed the ground work and drilling of a total of
274 wells, of which 223 wells were producing gas. The gas output
volume of the existing production wells amounts to 800 cubic metre
per day per well on average. In addition, the gas supply pipeline
connecting the gas block and the LNG plant was constructed and
put into operation. The Group has started to generate revenue, profit
and cash flow from the business of exploitation of natural gas, and
its profitability and cash flow position will be further improved as the
number and capabilities of production wells further increase.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
AL

LNG BUSINESS REVIEW

The shortage of gas supply in the whole LNG industry in Shanxi,
including ourselves, has not yet improved significantly, which
resulted in a lower utilisation rate of our Qinshui Shuntai LNG
plant. However, we made efforts to stabilise the supply of gas from
China United Coalbed Mathane Co. Ltd. (FEtEERABRE T A )
(“China United”) during 2015. In addition, Qinshui Shuntai LNG plant
has been receiving gas supply from Yangcheng gas block and its
utilisation rate has improved gradually as the gas supply pipeline was
constructed and put into operation.

MARKETING BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, the Group has developed a diversified
customer base comprising industrial, commercial and resident
customers and established complete distribution channel and
network. In addition, we have also taken different measures to
maximise the profitability of our gas sale. During 2015, we used
different sales mix and flexibly selected various equipment such as
pipeline, cylinder group, gas station and skid-mounted equipment
to sell gas to our customers. With commencement of the related
work , we will be able to reduce the uncertainty in future natural gas
sales and optimise our sales mix, i.e. shifting towards a balanced mix
from a residential user dominated mix. We will strive to ramp up the
business progressively in 2016, and contribute more earnings to the
Group.

EMPHASIS ON TECHNOLOGIES
ADVANCEMENT

In order to ensure the smooth development of our exploration and
production business, the continuous improvement of technologies
and to maintain our leading position in technological advancement,
we actively worked with research institutes to build and expand
our professional technical team, so as to provide professional and
advanced technical services to our exploration and liquefaction
production business. In the future, we will be investing heavily in
developing and advancing our CBM extraction technology and
techniques.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to observe its
environmental and social responsibility, in order to ensure sustainable
development of its business. To the knowledge of the Directors,
the Group has complied with all material relevant applicable laws
and regulations in relation to its business including employment and
the environment. The Group encourages employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental and
social activities.

The Company as a leading CBM company will seize opportunity to
grow our CBM business on a long term sustainable basis.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The bye-laws provides that the directors shall be indemnified out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance which provides appropriate cover for the directors and
directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
AL

OUTLOOK

At present, demand for natural gas is increasing in China with huge
growth potential. As pollution is worsening in China, governments at
all levels are placing more emphasis on development of clean energy,
which shows great potential in further development, recognising the
rising advocacy of safer — especially under the recent nuclear power
crisis — and cleaner energy. However, the existing conventional
natural gas production is unlikely to satisfy China’s strong demand
of natural gas in the coming years; and we believe that it is
inevitable that the PRC government would need to encourage the
unconventional gas production. With all the favourable policies and
measures in place, there is no doubt that the Company, as a leading
CBM company, will gain major benefits. We will seize this opportunity
to grow our CBM business on a long term sustainable basis and
would try our very best to maximise our shareholders’ investment
return.

Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to thank our team for
all their hard work in the past years for turning the Group a better
enterprise than | have ever seen. Going forward, | believe that our
team will pay more efforts in making the Group a leading enterprise in
China’s CBM industry.

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

29 March 2016
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group recorded a consolidated turnover of approximately
RMB329,120,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015,
representing an increase of approximately 9.3% compared with
that of the corresponding period in 2014. The increase was mainly
attributable to the increase in production compared to 2014 as a
result of the increase in number of coalbed methane (“CBM”) wells
in production, and China United Coalbed Methane Co., Ltd. (“China
United”) provided a stable supply of gas in 2015, therefore, the
operating income generated from sales of liquefied coalbed gas has
increased by approximately RMB49,693,000.

The sales quantity was increased in 2015 and was mainly attributable
to the increase in the production of liquefied coalbed gas. However,
the sales unit price was decreased in 2015, and it leads to the gross
profit of the Group was decreased by approximately RMB8,789,000
to RMB17,539,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2015 of approximately
RMB235,943,000 compared with that of approximately
RMB333,348,000 for the year ended 31 December 2014. The
reasons for the loss are as follows:

(i)  the loss of approximately RMB3,551,000, RMB134,385,000
and RMB92,086,000 are arising from the impairment loss on
goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
were recognised with respect to our operation of coalbed
methane exploration and development, natural gas liquefaction
and LNG distribution. It was contributed to the selling price of
the natural gas was dropped and the decrease of forecasted
number of gas wells of each of the financial years over the
forecast period due to a change in the business plan of Huiyang
New Energy project was designated in 2015. With reduced
number of operating gas wells, the gas output from the CBM
field are expected to tumble over the forecast period;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B PR ki B oy A

(i)

(i)

No such loss recorded in 2015, therefore, it leads a loss
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2015 decreased. As a result of debt-equity
swap, a loss on extinguishment of liability of RMB57,024,000
arising from the difference between the share subscription price
and the market price of the shares as at the share allotment
date was recognised in 2014;

other operating expenses of the Group decreased from
RMB38,652,000 to RMB4,343,000 in 2015, it mainly due
to a compensation fee on exploration RMB30,000,000 was
occurred in 2014; and

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment decreased
from approximately RMB872,877,000 as at 31 December 2014 to
approximately RMB800,681,000 as at 31 December 2015. It was
mainly attributable to the completion of construction work of gas
pipeline placement works, CBM wells and relevant machineries
and impairment of property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMB92,086,000 during the year.

In 2015, the Group entered a finance lease agreement with CIMC
with a total lease consideration of RMB114,836,400. Therefore,
the obligation under finance leases under non-current liabilities was
increased from RMB1,255,000 to RMB41,415,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT
PROSPECTS

Resources and reserves

Yangcheng Huiyang New Energy Development Company Limited
(hereinafter referred to as “Huiyang New Energy”) has interest
in certain coalbed methane (CBM) properties located at Shanxi
Province, the PRC. The Yangcheng area is approximately 96 km? in
the Shanxi Province, the PRC. Development within the Yangcheng
gas block is focused on the #3 and #15 coal seams. These CBM
properties are located at various coal mine areas owned by Shanxi
Yangcheng Yangtai Group Industrial Company Limited. Huiyang New
Energy is a joint venture company and 60% of its equity interests is
held by one of the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group.

The movements in the reserves of certain CBM properties as of
31 December 2015 are set out below:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B PR ki B oy A

The reserve evaluation of the CBM properties as at 31 March 2012 is
the results of evaluation conducted by an independent, US-licensed
natural gas reserve engineer, Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc.
(“NSAI”) engaged by the Company in 2011 to evaluate the CBM
properties reserves.

Due to continued development of the gas field blocks by the
Company, the number and scope of the gas production wells are
relatively increased as compared with that of 2012, enabling the
Company to collect more data about the CBM properties to evaluate
the CBM properties more accurately. Accordingly, the Company
engaged an independent professional valuer in the PRC in July
2014 to evaluate certain CBM properties of “Huiyang New Energy”
in terms of net 3P (Proved + Probable + Possible) reserves, net 2P
(Proved + Probable) reserves and net 1P (Proved) reserves based on
substantially the same definitions and guidelines as that of NSAl in
2012. According to the results of the evaluation, the total original gas
in place on all blocks was generally unchanged as compared with that
of NSAl'in 2012. Based on the current costs for developing wells, the
technical department of the Group estimates the capital expenditure
for each well to be approximately RMB2.15 million, mainly comprising
of road maintenance fees of approximately RMBO0.18 million, drilling
expenses of approximately RMB1.16 million, well testing fees of
approximately RMB0.04 million and costs of equipment and materials
of approximately RMBO0.77 million.

Gas volumes are expressed in billion of cubic feet (BCF) at standard
temperature and pressure bases. The reserves shown in the above
table are estimates only and should not be construed as exact
quantities. Proved reserves are those quantities of oil and gas
which, by analysis of engineering and geoscience data, can be
estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially recoverable;
probable and possible reserves are those additional reserves which
are sequentially less certain to be recovered than proved reserves.
Estimates of reserves may increase or decrease as a result of market
conditions, future operations, changes in regulations, or actual
reservoir performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Natural gas exploration and extraction

As at 31 December, 2015, the Group has completed the ground
work and drilling of 274 CBM wells, among which 223 wells were
in production, representing an increase in 26 wells in production
compared to the end of year 2014. As of the end of 2015, we have
completed the ground work and drilling of an aggregate of 274 CBM
wells, or 37 less than previously expected. It was mainly attributed to
the fact that the Company spent part of funds and put certain efforts
in stabilising and increasing the output of producing wells, which, to
some extent, has led to slowdown of construction of new wells. The
existing gas-output wells produce approximately 800 cubic meters
of gas on average per day. The Group expected that by the end
of 2016, the total drills and wells in production will reach 280 and
248 respectively and the total gas output will exceed 200,000 cubic
meters per day.

Liquefaction operation

As at 31 December 2015, the production capacity of the Group’s
LNG remained unchanged at the level of approximately 500,000
cubic meters per day. Compared with the prior year, the raw gas
supply has significantly improved with an increasingly growing trend.
In 2015, the average daily production output was over 300,000 cubic
meters but the supply constraints in natural gas in the PRC have not
unleashed generally. The Group has not yet purchased adequate
natural gas to conduct downstream liquefaction accordingly. The
utilisation rate of our LNG plants increased substantially but the
production capacity had not achieve its full potential and there is still
room for growth. However, with the increase in production output of
Huiyang Natural Gas Region and the expected increase of the supply
from other gas suppliers, the production capacity of the utilisation
rate of Qinshui Shuntai LNG plant will gradually increase, which will
continue to increase the income, profit and cash flow contribution to
the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Marketing and sales

During 2015, the marketing and sales systems did not change
significantly and the personnel structure and sales strategies basically
remained the same. Affected by overall environment, the sales price
during traditional peak periods did not represent a substantial increase
as the previous year and remained stable, which, to some extent, has
affected the sales performance. However, thanks to the increased
production output and improved internal management, the overall
sales revenue and profit grew substantially rather than decreased. As
such, the sales system, which has been well established over years,
was resilient enough to cope with the increased production output of
the Company and we have successfully completed our sales target
despite the unfavorable overall sales environment. In 2016, we will
continue to be committed to gradually boosting our business volume
to secure smooth sales channels and to make more contribution to
the Group’s profitability.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had net assets of approximately
RMB520,404,000, including cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB45,437,000. To minimise financial risks, the Group
implements stringent financial and risk management strategies and
avoids the use of highly-geared financing arrangements. The Group’s
gearing ratio, calculated by the Group’s total external borrowings
divided by its shareholders’ fund, was approximately 23.03% as at
31 December 2015 (2014: 16.18%).

The Group is opportunistic in obtaining financing to further improve
the cash position given that the natural gas drilling program is capital
intensive. If the Group has adequate financing in the future (whether
it is from internal cash flow due to increased gas sales, or from fund
raising), the Group will accelerate the drilling program. Apart from the
intended investment in upstream CBM exploration and extraction,
the Group does not have any other plan for acquisition or investment,
disposal or scale-down of any current business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The employees

As at 31 December, 2015, the employees of the Group totaled 517,
among which 88 were R&D staff and 208 were project and customer
service staff; 193 were administration staff and 28 were marketing
and sales staff. During the year, the total cost of staff (including the
remuneration of the Board Directors) recognised in profit or loss
account was approximately RMB28,431,000 (2014: approximately
RMB26,312,000). The remuneration and salary packages and
dividend policy of the Group were determined based on the individual
performance of staff. The Group will continue to offer professional
further studies and training to staff.

Impairment of intangible assets, goodwill and
property, plant and equipment

In 2010, 2011 and 2015, the Group acquired 100% equity interest
in Million Ideas Group, 100% equity interest of Wealthy Talent Global
Group and 100% equity interest of Nuoxin Engineering respectively.
The consideration for acquisition of Million Ideas Group was
RMB178,000,000. Million Ideas Group is principally engaged in the
provision of liquefied coalbed gas logistics services in the PRC. The
consideration for acquisition of Wealthy Talent Global Group was
HK$499,000,000. Wealthy Talent Global Group is principally engaged
in the supply of natural gas and sales of liquefied natural gas (“‘LNG”)
in Henan Province. The consideration for acquisition of Nuoxin
Engineering was RMB50,300,000. Nuoxin Engineering is principally
engaged in the manufacture and sale of PE gas pipeline, metal model
in construction use, mining machine, road compacting machine,crane
and exhaust fan for natural gas.

Although the natural gas business continued to make steady growth
and progress when compared to previous years, it is still under
development and far behind the expected development schedule.
It has not yet contributed satisfactory return to the Group since the
acquisition of the abovementioned two groups.

The recoverable amount of Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) of Coalbed
methane exploration and development, natural gas liquefaction
and LNG distribution was determined with reference to a valuation
conducted by an independent valuer, based on income approach.
In July 2014, the Company engaged an independent professional
valuer to evaluate certain CBM properties of Huiyang New Energy. As
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a result of an evaluation, the Group changed its business plan, and
has emphasised to develop certain area of Huiyang New Energy. As
a result of the change in the business plan, the forecasted number of
gas wells of each of the financial years over the forecast period will be
reduced. With reduced number of operating gas wells, the gas output
from the CBM field are expected to tumble over the forecast period.

The Discounted Cash Flow Method has been employed for the
valuation of the CGU and there is no change in the valuation method
for the valuation as at 31 December 2015 compared to that as at 31
December 2014. The discount rate used in the valuation of the CGU
are 21% for both years ended 2014 and 2015 to reflect specific risks
relating to the overall market as well as the relevant businesses and
consistent with external sources of information.

As such, an impairment loss of intangible assets, goodwill and
property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB97,864,000,
RMB3,551,000 and RMB92,086,000 in respect of the exclusive right
for piped natural gas operation in Ruyang County and operating
licence for liquefied coalbed gas logistics were recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

In 2009, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in Allied Rich
Group. The consideration for acquisition of Allied Rich Group was
RMB203,163,000. Allied Rich Group is principally engaged in the
sales of piped natural gas in Beiliu City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, the PRC.

The recoverable amount of CGU of piped natural gas located in
Guangxi was determined with reference to a valuation conducted by
an independent valuer, based on income approach.

The Discounted Cash Flow Method has been employed for the
valuation of the CGU and there is no change in the valuation method
for the valuation as at 31 December 2015 compared to that as at
31 December 2014. The discount rate used in the valuation of the
CGU changed from 22% as at 31 December 2014 to 29% as at 31
December 2015 to reflect specific risks relating to the overall market
as well as the relevant businesses and consistent with external
sources of information.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As such, an impairment loss of intangible assets of approximately
RMB36,521,000 in respect of the exclusive right for piped natural
gas operation in Beiliu City were recognised for the year ended
31 December 2015.

Risk in Foreign Exchange

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The Directors
consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each individual group entity.

Significant Investment, Material Acquisitions and
Disposal of Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

During the year ended 31 December 2015, there was no significant
investment, material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and
associated companies by the Company.

OUTLOOK

The upstream business of the Company is improving steadily
and the well construction and gas output are both increasing
constantly. During 2015, apart from constructing new wells, the
Company made technological upgrade to some old wells to improve
production capacity and output, laying a solid foundation for the
Company’s long-term performance. With the steady increase in
the number of upstream wells and gas output, the foundation of
the Company’s upstream business is increasingly consolidated and
the advantage of vertical integration business will emerge. In recent
years, the unfavorable bottleneck of raw gas shortage will gradually
be tackled and the production capacity of liquefaction plants will
be fully unleashed. Together with the increase in the proportion of
self-produced gas, the Company will be gradually less affected by
external factors and the uncontrollable risks involved in the operation
of the Company will become less. It is projected that by the end
of 2016, the daily output of gas exploration business will break
through beyond 200,000 cubic meters. The current gas supply of
China United has exceeded 200,000 cubic meters while the daily
production output of Qinshui Company is expected to reach 450,000
cubic meters in 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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As there are growing concerns over the environmental issues, it is
foreseen that the highly-polluted energy will be eliminated from the
market more rapidly and the use of replaceable clean energy will be
more popular, resulting in a keener market demand for natural gas.
Although the production capacity of natural gas has been increasing
significantly in recent years, the projected demand will not be satisfied
still. The demand growth of natural gas market will continue to retain
its strong momentum. The situation of operating loss resulting from
insufficient natural gas supply has improved significantly and is
expected to further improve. The management of the Company will
fully seize the opportunities and diligently strive to contribute to the
Company’s profitability and long-term development.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(@)

(b)

Application of Corporate Governance Principles

The Group is committed to promoting good corporate
governance, with the objectives of (i) the maintenance
of responsible decision making, (i) the improvement in
transparency and disclosure of information to shareholders,
(iii) the continuance of respect for the rights of shareholders and
the recognition of the legitimate interests of shareholders, and
(iv) the improvement in crisis management and the enhancement
of performance by the Group. The Group has applied the
principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules
with these objectives in mind.

Promulgation of Company’s Corporate
Governance Code

To this end, the Group has promulgated a set of code on
corporate governance (the “Company Code”) which sets out
the corporate standards and practices used by the Group
to direct and manage its business affairs. It is prepared by
reference to the principles, code provisions and recommended
best practices set out in the Code, which came into effect on
1 January 2005. In addition to formalising existing corporate
governance principles and practices, the Company Code
also serves the purpose of assimilating existing practices
with benchmarks prescribed by the Code and ultimately
ensuring high transparency and accountability to the Group’s
shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AEER R,

(c) Compliance of Company Code and the
code provisions under the Code (the “Code
Provisions™)

The Group has complied with all provisions in the Company
Code and the Code Provisions under the Code during the
year ended 31 December 2015 save for code provisions A.2.1
and A.4.1 of the Code, details of the derivation and reason for
derivation are set out in the paragraphs headed “Chairman
and Chief Executive” and “Appointment term of Non-executive
Directors” of this corporate governance report.

The Company Code contains all the Code Provisions of the
Code and other provisions.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than those as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have complied with
the required standard of dealings and code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors as set out in the Company’s code
of conduct for the year 2015.

BOARD COMPOSITION, ROLE AND
FUNCTION

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Company through direction and supervision of the
Company’s business and affairs.

The Board comprises a total of five Directors, comprising two
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman), and
Mr. Fu Shou Gang and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Luo Wei Kun, Mr. Wang Zhi He and Ms. Pang Yuk Fong.
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong has appropriate professional qualifications,
accounting and financial management expertise as required under
the GEM Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent Non-
executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are independent in accordance
with the terms of the guidelines.

The Company has complied with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of
the GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2015,
there were three independent non-executive Directors in the Board
and the number of independent non-executive Directors represents
at least one-third of the Board. The Company has also complied with
Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, which stipulates that one of
the independent non-executive Directors must possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Board considers that the independent
non-executive Directors are all independent persons with appropriate
qualifications or expertise and the Company has complied with the
relevant requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the Code. In 2015, the
Board has reviewed and monitored: (a) the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, (b) training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management,
(c) the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, (d) the Company’s code of conduct and
(e) the Company’s compliance with the Code disclosure requirements.

Appointment Term of Non-executive Directors

Under code provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Currently, the independent non-executive Directors have no fixed
term of office but are subject to retirement by rotation at annual
general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association. As such, the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to serve the purpose of this
code provision.
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Roles of Directors

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
the management of the Company and is collectively responsible
for appointing and supervising senior management to ensure that
the operations of the Group are conducted in accordance with the
objectives of the Group. The principal roles of the Board are:

° to lay down the Group’s objectives, strategies, policies and
business plans;

° to monitor and control operating and financial performance
through the determination of the annual budget; and

° to formulate internal control policies and set appropriate policies
to manage risks in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The Board is directly accountable to the shareholders and is
responsible for preparing the accounts.

Delegation by the Board

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management responsibility
to the management staff under the instruction/supervision of the
Board.

The management staff of the Company are principally responsible for:

1. exercising all such other powers and perform all such other
acts as may be exercised and performed by the Directors, save
and except for those that may specifically be reserved by the
Board and/or the committees set up by the Board for decision
and implementation; or those that may only be exercised by the
Board pursuant to the Articles of Association, the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

2. formulating and/or implementing policies for business activities,
internal controls and administration of the Company;
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3. planning and deciding the Company’s strategies on its business
activities; and

4.  keeping proper written records of its decisions taken which
may be inspected by any members of the Board or the Board
committees upon request.

The Board will review the above arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Prior to the retirement of Mr. Feng San Li on
26 November 2012, Mr. Feng San Li was holding the title of CEO.
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng is the chairman of the Board. After Mr. Feng’s
retirement, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng continues to act as the chairman
and the duties of the chief executive have been undertaken by the
other executive Director. The Board meets regularly to consider
major matters affecting the business and operations of the Group.
The Board considers that this structure will balance the power and
authority between the Board and management and believes that
this structure enables the Group to make and implement decision
promptly and efficiently.

BOARD OPERATION

Regular Board meetings are held normally every three months, with
additional meetings arranged, if and when required. In 2015, the
Board held 14 meetings.
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The attendance record of each member of the Board at board

EEFEREHEARREZTEEZ LR

meetings and general meetings of the Company are set out below: RERLERAT
Attendance of Attendance of
Board Meetings General Meetings
Exges RERXE
HE R R
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman) 13/14 4/4
FREBEE (FE)
Mr. Shi Liang (retired with effect from 26 May 2015) 5/5 2/2
MREE (BT —RAFRA - +/NBREME) (Note) (Note)
(P3E) (BfHsE)
Mr. Fu Shou Gang 12/14 4/4
NEL Pt
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHITES
Mr. Luo Wei Kun 13/14 4/4
MR STE
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong 9/14 4/4
ZEFLL
Mr. Wang Zhi He 14/14 4/4
F2MEE

Note: Number of board meeting and general meeting held during the tenure of the
Director

Directors are free to contribute alternative views at meetings and
major decisions would only be taken after deliberation at Board
meetings. Directors who are considered having conflict of interests
or material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be
discussed would not be counted in the quorum of meeting and would
abstain from voting on the relevant resolution.

All Directors have access to the company secretary who is

responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are complied
with, and advising the Board on compliance matters.
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Directors’ Duties

Every Director is required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a
director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company:

o A comprehensive director’s handbook is issued to every
Director, which sets out guidelines on conduct by making
reference to the relevant sections of the statutes or the GEM
Listing Rules, and reminds Directors of their responsibilities
in making disclosure of their interests and potential conflict of
interests.

° Orientation programmes are organised for providing induction
to new Directors to help them familiarise with the Company’s
management, business and governance practices.

° Management provides appropriate and sufficient information
to Directors and the committee members in a timely manner to
keep them apprised of the latest development of the Group and
enable them to discharge their responsibilities. Directors also
have independent and unrestricted access to senior executives
of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. Directors’
training is an ongoing process. During the year ended 31 December
2015, Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition, all
Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from
time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of
good corporate governance practices.

Attending seminar(s)
or programme(s)/
reading relevant
materials in relation
to the business,
GEM Listing Rules
or directors’ duties

(Yes/No)
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng Yes
Mr. Shi Liang Yes

(retired on 26 May 2015)

Mr. Fu Shou Gang Yes
Mr. Luo Wei Kun Yes
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong Yes
Mr. Wang Zhi He Yes

The briefing sessions covered topics including the Code, listed
company regulations and disclosure obligations in Hong Kong,
disclosable transactions and connected transactions etc.
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REMUNERATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF KEY
MANAGEMENT

Details of remuneration paid to member of key management (exclude
Director) fell within the following band:
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2015 2014
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Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A AZ

HKD Nil ~ HKD 1,000,000 Z% T2 1,000,000/8 7T 3 3

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia, the
following purposes: —

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on policies and
structure for remuneration of directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing such policy on remuneration;

(b) to make recommendations to the Board the remuneration
packages for executive Directors and senior management and
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is made up of all of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Pang Yuk Fong
(Chairman), Mr. Luo Wei Kun and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The duties of
Remuneration Committee is to review and make recommendations to
the remuneration policy and packages of the executive Directors and
executives.
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In 2015, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting. The
attendance record of each member of the Remuneration Committee
is set out below:

#r B

BERN_ThFLHRT-REZ °
=8 =

= A
LZEESHEMNHELENT «

Attendance
HER
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (Chairman) 1/1
ZEFELT (FE)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun 1/1
BEBTE
Mr. Wang Zhi He 1/1
Fzmk4s

During the meeting, members of the Remuneration Committee
reviewed the remuneration packages and overall benefits of the
Directors by taking into account factors such as remuneration
packages and benefits offered by comparable companies, the
respective contribution of each of the Directors to the Group and the
business objectives of the Group.

The executive Directors are responsible for reviewing all relevant
remuneration data and market conditions as well as the performance
of individuals and the profitability of the Group, and proposing to
the remuneration committee for consideration and approval. The
Remuneration Committee performed the major work as below:

1. reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy and structure
of the Company and the remuneration and performance of
duties of the executive Directors and senior management in the
year under review;

2. made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration

packages of individual executive directors and senior
management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia, the
following purposes: —

(@ to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship; and

() to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or reappointment of directors and
succession planning for directors.

In August 2013, the Board has adopted its board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”). All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against selection
criteria based on a range of diversity perspectives, which would
include but not be limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee is made up of all of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Zhi He
(Chairman), Mr. Luo Wei Kun and Ms. Pang Yuk Fong.

In 2015, the Nomination Committee held one meeting. The
attendance record of each member of the Nomination Committee is
set out below:
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At the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Company’s Board of Directors, made
reference to criteria including, inter alia, reputation for integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industry, professional
and educational background, and commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest. The Nomination Committee was satisfied
with the existing composition of the Board and recommended no
change in the near future, and performed the major work as below:

1. examined the structure, size and composition of the Board, to
ensure the Directors have the expertise, skills and experience
required to meet the Company’s business;

2. assessed the independency of all independent non-executive
Directors; and

3. made recommendations to the Board in this regard.

AMENDMENT TO THE TERMS OF REFERENCE
OF NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The terms of reference of the nomination committee of the Company
was amended on 14 August 2013 to include the review of the
Company’s board diversity policy and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the said policy as one of its duty.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’s audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 28 July 2003 and currently comprises all three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Pang Yuk Fong
(Chairman), Mr. Luo Wei Kun and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are (a) to review the Group’s annual
reports, financial statements, half year reports and quarterly reports;
(b) to serve as a focal point for communication between Directors,
the external auditors and internal auditors; (c) to assist the Board in
fulfilling its responsibilities by providing an independent review and
supervision of financial reporting, and the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control system; and (d) to review the appointment of external
auditors on an annual basis as well as to ensure independence of the
continuing auditors.
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In 2015, the Audit Committee held five meetings. The attendance BZZE@N T AFEERITARNEH -

record of each member of the Audit Committee is set out below: BERZEEEKNEMERBLENT -
Attendance

HE R

Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (Chairman) 5/5

TEFEL (FE)

Mr. Luo Wei Kun 5/5

Mr. Wang Zhi He 5/5

Tz REE

At the meetings, the Audit Committee has carefully reviewed the @t BZZEBSEFMABHARANE

Company’s quarterly, half-yearly and annual results and its system
of internal control and has made suggestions to improve them. The
Audit Committee also carried out and discharged its other duties
set out in Code. In the course of doing so, the Audit Committee has
met the company’s management several times during year 2015.
Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted access to the
Group’s external auditors and the management.

During the financial year 2015, the Audit Committee has held four
meetings. The Group’s results for the year 2015 have been reviewed
and commented by the Audit Committee members, and performed
the major works as below:

1. reviewed the annual financial results and report for the year
ended 31 December 2014, interim financial results and report
for the six months ended 30 June 2015 and quarterly financial
results and reports for each of the three months ended 31
March 2015 and 30 September 2015;

2. reviewed the internal audit department’s report regarding
the reviewing and procedures of the internal control and risk
management of the Company; and

3. provided opinions to the Board in respect of the terms of
appointment of external auditors.
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The Group’s result for the year ended 31 December 2015 have been
reviewed and commented by the audit committee members, which
was of the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with
the applicable accounting standards and requirements as well as the
GEM Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing through mails whose contact details are as
follows: —

Room 910B, 9th Floor

East Wing, Tsim Sha Tsui Centre
66 Mody Road

Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon
Hong Kong

Tel No.: 2366 1613

Fax No.: 2366 1665

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, The Board may
whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one
or more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at
any general meeting unless a notice signed by a member (other than
the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at
the head office or at the registration office provided that the minimum
length of the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at
least seven (7) days and that the period for lodgment of such notice(s)
shall commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no
later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
annual accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group’s state
of affairs of the results and cash flow for the year. In preparing the
accounts for the year ended 31 December 2015, the Directors have:

° adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; and

o made judgements and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and ensured the accounts are prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Company recognises that high quality corporate reporting is
important in reinforcing the trust relationship between the Company
and the its stakeholders and aims at presenting a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Company’s performance, position
and prospects in all corporate communications.
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Internal Control

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control over
financial, operational and compliance issues for the year 2015. The
Audit Committee concluded that, in general, the Group has set
up a sound control environment and installed necessary control
mechanisms to monitor and correct non-compliance. The Board,
through the review of the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the Group
in 2015, fully complied with the code provisions on internal controls
as set forth in the Code. The Audit Committee also concluded that
the Group has employed sufficient staff for the propose of accounting,
financial and internal control.

External Auditors

The Group’s external auditors are HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited. The Audit Committee is mandated to ensure continuing
auditors’ objectivity and safeguard independence of the auditors, and
it has:

° determined the framework for the type and authorisation of
non-audit services for which the external auditors may provide.
In general, the engagement of the external auditors to perform
non-audit services is prohibited except for tax related services;
and

° agreed with the Board on the policy relating to the hiring of
employees or former employees of the external auditors and
monitored the applications of such policy.

During 2015, the remuneration payable to the Company’s external

auditors for audit and non-audit services were approximately
RMB1,609,000 and RMB nil respectively.
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The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2015 were audited
by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will
expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited be re-appointed as the auditors
of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

The Group has not employed any staff who was formerly involved in
the Group’s statutory audit.

Corporate Communication

The Group recognises the importance of shareholder feedback and
the need for ongoing communication with its stakeholders, including
the general public, investors, and the institutional and individual
shareholders. The Company published annual, interim and quarterly
reports which contained detailed information about the Group.
Inquiries by shareholders are directed and dealt with by senior
management of the Group.

Company secretary

Mr. Lui Chi Keung has been appointed as the company secretary
since September 2007. For the details, please refer to page 40 to this
report.

The company secretary has complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules in relation to the professional training requirements.

INVESTORS RELATIONSHIP

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders.
These include the annual general meeting, the annual, interim and
quarterly reports, notices, announcements and circulars and the
Company’s website at http://www.ilinkfin.net/china_leason/.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, there had been no
significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, aged 52, has been appointed as chairman
of the Board, an executive Director and the compliance officer of the
Company since May 2006. From 9 January 2004 to 26 May 2006,
Mr. Wang was an executive director of Tianjin Jinran Public Utilities
Company Limited (“Tianjin Jinran”) (formerly known as Tianjin Tianlian
Public Utilities Company Limited), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 01265, former stock
code: 08290), and was responsible for its business strategies. He
graduated from the University of Tianjin with a bachelor degree in
engineering in 1984. Mr. Wang is also a director of Tianjin Leason
Investment Group Company Limited (KZHEEIZEEBEGRE Q7).
Mr. Wang is a substantial shareholder of the company which holds
394,239,983 Shares in person or through controlled corporation,
representing approximately 29.88% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report. In addition, as at the
date of this report, Mr. Wang is interested as a grantee of options
to subscribe for 324,750 shares under the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011 and as a holder of
convertible bonds convertible to 94,142,021 conversion shares.

Mr. Shi Liang, aged 47, has been appointed as an executive
Director since May 2006 and resigned as an executive Director
with effect from 26 May 2015. Mr. Shi graduated with a bachelor
degree in Material Science in the Shanghai University of Science and
Technology of the PRC and a master degree in management from
the Business School of the People’s University in the PRC. He was
a vice general manager of Tianjin Jinran. He had worked for Jiangsu
Nan Tong Electric Melter Company and Electronic Industrial Division
Basic Products Department. He had also worked for Jiangsu Hua
Yong Electronic Group Company as deputy manager of international
cooperation department and secretary to the board of directors. He
had also held various positions as a project manager, senior manager
and an assistant to executive director in the investment banking of
United Securities Limited, a securities company in the PRC.
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Mr. Fu Shou Gang, aged 49, has years of experiences in the natural
gas sector. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in Tianjin Jinran,
where was pointed as an executive Director. Mr. Fu is interested as a
grantee of options to subscribe for 324,750 shares under the share
options scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Luo Wei Kun, aged 77, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since August 2006. He graduated from the
Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering in
1964 and started postgraduate studies in the same year. He was
awarded a postgraduate diploma in civil engineering in 1967. He
acted as a technician in Wuhan Branch of the Chinese Medicine
Industrial Limited during 1968 to 1969 and as a technician, deputy
section chief, section chief, engineer and vice chief engineer in the
State Ministry of Medicine — Hubei Medical Manufactory Branch
during 1969 to 1985. He then worked as a senior engineer, section
chief and assistant factory manager in Tianjin Second Coal Gas
Factory during 1986 to 1992. From 1992 to 2000, he acted as a
vice chief engineer in Tianjin Utility Department and at the same time,
worked as a chief engineer in Tianjin City Gas Administrative Office.
After his retirement in March 2000, Mr. Luo acted as a consultant of
Tianjin City Gas Administrative Office and Tianjin City Gas Planning
Office. Currently, he is an independent non-executive director of
Tianjin Jinran.

Ms. Pang Yuk Fong, Yvonne, aged 49, is an experienced practising
certified public accountant in Hong Kong with over 25 years of
professional experience in accounting and auditing. Ms. Pang is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Hong
Kong Institute of Company Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators and an associate of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Ms. Pang holds
a Master of Professional Accounting Degree from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.
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Ms. Pang’s professional career started in Deloitte (one of the Big-
4 International Accountancy Firms) and subsequently held the
accounting positions in the listed companies in Hong Kong. Ms. Pang
has been running her own practice of Certified Public Accountant
(practicing) in Hong Kong since 1990’s and has currently been the
Managing Director of Focus Asia CPA Limited. She has also been
the Managing Director of Focus Secretarial Services Limited which
is engaged in providing multilateral company secretarial services and
the Managing Director of Focus Asia Market Consultants Limited and
Focus Corporate Consultancy Limited which are engaged in providing
business advisory services to her clients in various aspects.

Ms. Pang has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director since 2006.

Mr. Wang Zhi He, aged 68, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since August 2006. Mr. Wang is a senior
accountant. Mr. Wang graduated from Anhui University of Finance
and Economics in February 1972, and was assigned to finance
department of Anhui Huaibei Mining Bureau and worked as a
commissioner, deputy section chief, section chief, deputy director and
director. Mr. Wang was transferred to the Ministry of Coal Industry in
May 1995, and worked as a director of Asset Capital Management
Division and State-owned Assets Management department. In
October 1997, Mr. Wang was re-designated as a chief accountant of
China Coal Construction Group Corporation, and worked as a deputy
general manager and chief accountant in May 1999. Mr. Wang was
transferred to Zhonglian Gas Company Limited and worked as a
chief accountant in March 2004. Mr. Wang has years of relevant
experience.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lui Chi Keung, aged 58, has been appointed as the company
secretary and authorised representative of the Company since
September 2007. Mr. Lui presently is appointed as the Company’s
secretary and authorised representative. Mr. Lui is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Lui has over 30 years of experience in auditing, accounting,
financial and business management.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 63 to 64.

The state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31 December
2015 are set out in the consolidated and company statements of
financial position on pages 65 to 66 and note 41 respectively. The
cash flows of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement of
cash flows on pages 69 to 70.

The Directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 32(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in page 68 and note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and
the Company’s articles of association, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to its shareholders comprise share premium,
contributed surplus and accumulated losses which in aggregate
amounted to approximately RMB478,004,000 as at 31 December
2015 (2014: RMB681,106,000). The distributable reserves are
available for distribution provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed, the Company will be able to pay
off its debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2015 were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman)
Mr. Shi Liang (retired with effect from 26 May 2015)
Mr. Fu Shou Gang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Luo Wei Kun
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong
Mr. Wang Zhi He

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, Mr. Shi Liang and Mr. Fu Shou Gang retire
at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

The term of office for each of independent non-executive Directors is
the period up to his retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions of
the articles of association of the Company.
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Biographical information of the Directors is set out on page 38 to
page 40 of this report.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors have remained
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND KEY MANAGEMENT'S
REMUNERATION

Details of Directors’ and key management’s remuneration for the year
are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors’ remuneration are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No other contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
subsisted at the year-end or any time during the year to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
oA

ERZFESZIREENIENARESRIBE

ARRIERESBLIFATESRELIFER
ETAR RIS 5.0 R BB MR 2 F R
FERRLK « RARIRBAEBBIULIFNTESD
V=t AV N

EERBELN

EFEEANFSETMAMB AR LA
SETAR—FRRMNHE CREMERRIN)
M IEZ RIEEHK]

EERFIEEEABZME

EENTEEEABRFRAZHMEFBEER
fRA P BMARMEEI K10 -

EEMeAHBRRNVERAGHE -
THEZTE2EER 2R  AERKREN
RAKRERERETE °

EENEREHNzHER

RN B S E AR MY B A R F AR SF A A
BREBETEEANEEFRETERERER
(TREZsmE) BRASEZEER A
EBREH -

—E-AFFR PEABREEERLD

|

43



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
o

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes or may
cause any significant competition with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on Information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of listed
issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules were as
follows:
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Long positions in shares, underlying shares and

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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RADBRD - HEROREZ 2

debentures of the Company B
Number of
shares/
Nature of underlying  Approximate %
Name Capacity interest shares of shareholdings
B4, M RE BHREQ
HH 54 EmME RGB B Bok
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng Interest of controlled Corporate interest 18,118,500 1.38%
FRETE corporation NRIER (Note 1)
RiT LB En (M97E1)
Beneficial owner Personal 470,588,254 35.66%
EnEBA &A (Note 2)
(M¥zx2)
Mr. Fu Shou Gang Beneficial owner Personal 324,750 0.02%
RIEmI% 4 EREAA EA (Note 3)
(M3E3)
Notes: BiE -
1. Such shares are owned by Jumbo Lane Investments Limited. 1. ZEROHBEEREERAFTES -

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng owns 100% interest in the issued share capital of
Jumbo Lane Investments Limited and he is taken to be interested in the
shares owned by Jumbo Lane Investments Limited pursuant to Part XV of
the SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Out of the 470,588,254 long positions, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng is interested
as (i) a grantee of options to subscribe for 324,750 shares under the new
share option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011; (i) a
beneficial owner of 376,121,483 issued shares of the Company; and (i) a
holder of convertible bonds convertible to 94,142,021 conversion shares.

Mr. Fu Shou Gang is interested as a grantee of options to subscribe for
324,750 shares under the new share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 18 May 2011.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any other interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were otherwise required, pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Group had not issued any debentures
during the Year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
PERSONS WITH DISCLOSEABLE INTEREST
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2015, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company as disclosed above) had
an interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in shares of the Company
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Percentage of

Name Number of shares Nature of Interest shareholding

HE RDEE M BRESL

Ms. Zhao Xin (Note) 488,706,754 Interest of spouse 37.04%

R+ (M) (IR 3

RHB OSK Finance Hong Kong 197,366,867 Person having 14.96%
Limited a security interest

EXELHBERAR BERBFERZ AL

Note: PitsE

Ms. Zhao Xin (the spouse of Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng) is deemed to be interested
in her spouse’s interest in the Company pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, no other person (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under to section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures” above and in the section “Share Option Scheme”
below, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children
or chief executive or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 18 May 2011, the
Company’s share option scheme adopted on 28 July 2003 (the “Old
Share Option Scheme”) was terminated and a new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) was adopted which will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from adoption of the New
Share Option Scheme and will expire on 17 May 2021. On 30 May
2011, the Board approved to grant options in respect of 258,300,000
ordinary shares to the Company’s Directors, employees and
consultants under the New Share Option Scheme.

There were no share options that had been granted remained
outstanding under the Old Share Option Scheme prior to its
termination.

For details of the New Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 20 April 2011.
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Information in relation to share options disclosed in accordance with 1R IFAIZEMR MR BIFAiREE A MERIENE

the GEM Listing Rules was as follows: BHOTE :
Adjustedon  Adjusted on Exercise Adjusted Adjusted
6February 12 May 2014 price of exercise price  exercise price
014asa  asaresult Cancelled/ pershare Exerciseprice  pershareas  per share as
Name and Asat  resultofthe  of the capital Asat Granted Exercised lapsed Asat Date of Exercise as at the date per share ~ aresult of the aresult of
category of 5February  Open Offer reorganisation {January  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe 31 December grant of periodof  ofgrantof  optionasat  OpenOffer the capital
participants 2014 (note i) (note iv) 2015 year year year 2015  share options  share options  share options 1 January 2014 (noteiil) - reorganisation
L e
EfiR EATR
Z3-BF  ZR-QE H-%-0F RAEREZ
i ZRAR EATZH B £ RERE  -A-HZ f3g  ERAER
ZB-mE e fFi@E  -%3-3% i £ B/ H-%-1f BhE BRE BEREz  SORRE  SROEE b
SEEREREN ZREA (Matii) (M) -R-8 2Rl ki 24% tzA=t-A REAH ikl SKORE i (Waii)  SRORE
Executive Directors
HiTEE
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng 2,500,000 3,247,500 34,750 34,750 - - - 324750 052011 305/2011- 049% 0.4% 0.381 381
TaEEE 290512021
Mr. Fu Shou Gang 2,500,000 3247500 304,750 304,750 - - - 324,750 062011 30/5/2011- 0.49% 049 0.381 381
(RRIEE 29552021
5,000,000 6,495,000 649,500 649,500 - - - 649,500
Employees 4200000 54,869,760 5,486,976 5,486,976 - - - 5,486,976 3052011 305/2011- 049% 0.49% 0.381 381
8 29/5/2021
Consutants 20020000 259825980 25982508 25,082,598 - - - 5982598 3062011 30/8/2011- 049% 0.4% 0.381 381
il 29/5/2001
247260000 321,190,740 32,119,074 32,119,074 . . - 32,119,074
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Notes: Pi%E -

()  Theterms and conditions of the grants that existed during the review period (i) PR EIEE BRI 2 B B IR R AE AT -
are as follows:

Number of Contractual
options Vesting conditions life of options
BRERE SEEIRY BRESHFH

Options granted:

BRI

30 May 2011 215,220,000 Vest immediately 10 years
—T——FRA=+H 2l 104
30 May 2011 43,080,000 Half on each of the first 10 years

and second anniversaries
of grant date

—ZT——FRA=1H REBBzE5ER 104F
EEBAFEER—F

(i) The number and weighted average exercise prices of options are as follows: (i)  FEMEZ B MAEFHITEBLOT
Weighted average Number of
exercise price options
MEEEIITHEE BREHE
HK$
BT
Outstanding as at 1 January 2015 RZZE—RAF—A—BRIE 3.81 32,119,074
(note iii and note iv) (P =Eiil B M 7Eiv)
Granted during the year FAREHED — —
Outstanding as at RZE—hF+=-HA=+—H 3.81 32,119,074
31 December 2015 RITE
Exercisable as at RZE—RF+=ZA=+—H 3.81 32,119,074
31 December 2015 AI1T{E
The options outstanding as at 31 December 2015 had an exercise price of R-ZB—AF+=-A=1+—HZR{TEBERE
HK$3.81 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 5.4 years. 2T ER3.81 BT - MIEFHE K FIERF
B54F o
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(i)

(V)

50

As a result of the Open Offer, adjustment has been made, among others,
to the number of the share options to subscribe for shares granted and the
exercise price of the outstanding share options pursuant to the New Share
Option Scheme with effect from 6 February 2014.

After the aforesaid adjustment upon the completion of the Open Offer, the
total number of the outstanding share options has been adjusted from
247,260,000 to 321,190,740 on 6 February 2014 and the exercise price
of the outstanding share options had been adjusted from HK$0.495 to
HK$0.381.

As a result of the Capital Reorganisation, adjustment has been made,
among others, to the number of the share options to subscribe for shares
granted and the exercise price of the outstanding share options pursuant to
the New Share Option Scheme with effect from 12 May 2014.

After the aforesaid adjustment upon the completion of the Capital
Reorganisation, the total number of the outstanding share options has
been adjusted from 321,190,740 to 32,119,074 on 12 May 2014 and the
exercise price of the outstanding options has been adjusted from HK$0.381
to HK$3.81.
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(i)

()
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RARBETKEL Ll AR - RITEBR
RELAEN D H 247,260,000 D HBER —F—PY
£~ A7NA 2321,190,7401) » MARITEIEK
HEZITEED H0.4958TARE0.381/8 T °
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MAJOR TRANSACTIONS AND EVENTS

Finance lease arrangement

On 28 January 2015, Shanxi Qinshui Shuntai Energy Development
Company Limited (“Qinshui Energy”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company entered into, among other things, the Finance Lease
Agreement with CIMC Capital Limited (“CIMC”), pursuant to which
(i) Qinshui Energy conditionally agreed to sell and CIMC conditionally
agreed to purchase the certain liquefied natural gas equipments
(“Equipments”) for a total consideration of RMB98,000,000
(approximately HK$124,051,000); and (i) Qinshui Energy conditionally
agreed to lease from CIMC, and CIMC conditionally agreed to lease
to Qinshui Energy, the Equipments for a total lease consideration
of RMB114,836,400 (approximately HK$145,363,000) for a term
of 36 months by monthly installments inclusive of interest with a
lump sum handling fee in the sum of RMB980,000 (approximately
HK$1,241,000). The lease consideration may be adjusted according
to the floating lending interest rate to be promulgated by People’s
Bank of China from time to time.

As the applicable percentage ratios of the Finance Lease Agreement
exceed 25% but less than 100%, the Finance Lease Agreement
constitutes a major transaction on the part of the Company under
Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing Rules. Therefore, the Finance Lease
Agreement is subject to the requirements of announcement and the
approval of the shareholders by way of poll at the special general
meeting of the Company. An special general meeting of the Company
has been convened on 30 March 2015 and the finance lease
arrangement was passed by ordinary resolution.

For details of the Finance Lease Arrangement, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 28 January 2015 and
30 March 2015 and the circular of the Company dated 12 March
2015.
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Retirement of Directorship

Mr. Shi Liang (“Mr. Shi”) retired by rotation at the Annual General
Meeting 2014 (“AGM 2014”) in accordance with the Bye-laws. As
the resolution was not passed at AGM 2014, Mr. Shi retired as an
executive Director at the conclusion of the AGM 2014. For details of
the retirement of directorship, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 26 May 2015.

Discloseable and connected transaction

On 12 October 2015 (after trading hours), Shanxi Yangcheng (a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) as purchaser and Mr. Wang
as vendor entered into an agreement, pursuant to which Shanxi
Yangcheng has conditionally agreed to purchase and Mr. Wang has
conditionally agreed to dispose of 100% equity interest of Nuoxin
(Xian County) Engineering Materials Company Limited, a company
established in the PRC with limited liability and is wholly owned by
Mr. Wang at a total consideration of RMB50,300,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$61,396,180).

The total consideration of the acquisition shall be satisfied by Shanxi
Yangcheng in the following manners:

() as to RMB32,899,999.88 (equivalent to approximately
HK$40,157,739.85) by way of allotment and issue of
178,004,166 Consideration Shares, credited as fully paid, at
an issue price of approximately HK$0.2256 per Consideration
Share to Mr. Wang at Completion; and

iy as to RMB17,400,000.12 (equivalent to approximately
HK$21,238,440) by way of issue of the Convertible Bond
in the principal amount of HK$21,238,440 convertible up
to 94,142,021 Conversion Shares upon the exercise of the
Conversion Rights attached to the Convertible Bond at a
conversion price of HK$0.2256 per Conversion Share to
Mr. Wang at Completion.

The Consideration Shares and the Conversion Shares will be allotted
and issued under the Specific Mandate.
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Upon Completion, the Target Company will become an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the financial results
of the Target Company will be consolidated into the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

Application will be made to the Stock Exchange for the listing of, and
permission to deal in, the Consideration Shares and the Conversion
Shares.

Since the relevant applicable percentage ratio calculated in respect
of the Acquisition is more than 5% but less than 25%, the Acquisition
constitutes a discloseable transaction on the part of the Company
and is therefore subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements under Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As at the signing date of the agreement, Mr. Wang is the executive
Director and he directly and indirectly holds approximately 18.97%
of the entire issued share capital of the Company and therefore is a
substantial Shareholder within the meaning of the GEM Listing Rules.
As such, Mr. Wang is a connected person of the Company and the
Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Therefore, the Acquisition is subject to the requirements of
announcement and the approval of the shareholders by way of poll
at the special general meeting of the Company. An special general
meeting of the Company has been convened on 3 December 2015
and the discloseable and connected transaction was passed by
ordinary resolution. The acquisition was completed on 11 December
2015.

For details of the discloseable and connected transaction, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 12 October
2015, 2 November 2015, 6 November 2015, 17 November 2015,
3 December 2015 and 11 December 2015 and the circular of the
Company dated 17 November 2015.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
oA

TR - BIRARRKAARARZEEEE
MEBATR  fMBERARZHBRERNRER
BB M MRTEZEAAR °

R B % AV B 32 P BR RE HEAE B AU S R ik
RO ETRER -

ERREBERFECREERAI RS
R 5% 1EAKA 256% » BURIRAIZEIR £ AR Al
FTIE  WESHEBKARBZATHE
X5 HAMABTHRER DM IRE

REBHEZRTAH - EAERPITESE M
FEEMEEFAERR B2 ME BITRAL
18.97% @ Hit REBERR (EERAIEIR
ETARAD o Bt - ARBAIFR ETARRIE
“+E FRERARRZEEAL MK
BEREBRARRZEERS

At - WEERAE TR 2RE - BAR
BRERRARBIRREFRIARE EARERRTT
APER - FAHEE - ARRIER=F—H
FH-A=ZRARBRKERIAS  WAEB
RARBBATRENEERS - WEEE
ER-_F-RFT-_A+—H%EK -

ERATHEERBERSZFHE 25
AARBHA-_ZE—RHE+A+=H =
T-RAF+—AZH - ZZT—AF+—ARX
A —ZE—AF+—A++tH - ZZ—1F
+-AZBAR-E—RAE+-_A+—HZA
HARARARASEAE-_E—AFE+—F++
B2 o

—E-REFH FEREREEERD

|

53



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
o

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year under review, the top five customers of the Group
together accounted for approximately 58.84% of the Group’s total
sales for the year while the single largest customers accounted for
approximately 19.85% of the Group’s total sales during the year.

The top five suppliers of the Group for the year under review
together accounted for approximately 77.93% of the Group’s total
purchases for the year and the single largest supplier accounted for
approximately 40.63% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or any shareholders
of the Company who owns more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company has any interests in the Group’s five largest
customers and suppliers above mentioned.

AMOUNT OF CAPITALISED INTEREST

Save as disclosed in this report, no interest has been capitalised by
the Group during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Particular of the retirement benefits schemes of the Group are set out
in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

As at the date of this report, the Company had outstanding options
to subscribe for 32,119,074 shares under the share option scheme
adopted on 18 May 2011 and outstanding convertible bonds
convertible to 94,142,021 conversion shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of the
Company or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2015, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company nor any of its subsidiaries.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Company are set out in
note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, Shanxi Qinshui Prefecture
Chengrong Investment Limited (“Chengrong Investment”) has
provided financing to the Group in the sum of RMB30,000,000. As
Chengrong Investment owns 17% equity interest in Shanxi Wanzhi
Logistics Limited (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company),
Chengrong Investment is a connected person of the Company
under the GEM Listing Rules. As the financing is financial assistance
provided by a connected person for the benefit of the Group on
normal commercial terms (or better to the Company) where no
security over the assets of the Group is granted in respect of the
financial assistance, the transaction are exempt from the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval under Rule
20.65 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, Yangcheng Yangtai Group
Industrial Company Limited (“Yangcheng Yangtai”) has provided
financing to the Group in the sum of RMB13,080,000. As Yangcheng
Yangtai owns 20% equity interest in Huiyang New Energy, (a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company), Yangcheng Yangtai is a
connected person of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules. As
the financing is financial assistance provided by a connected person
for the benefit of the Group on normal commercial terms (or better
to the Company) where no security over the assets of the Group
is granted in respect of the financial assistance, the transaction
are exempt from the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval under Rule 20.65 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Save as
disclosed above, The Directors consider that those material related
party transactions disclosed in note 40 to the financial statements did
not fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing
connected transactions” in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules
during the year under review.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes or may
cause any significant competition with the business as of the Group.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Open offer, proposed change in board lot size and
connected transaction: set-off of the convertible
bonds

On 7 January 2016, the Company proposes to raise approximately
not less than HK$119.41 million and not more than HK$122.74
million (before expenses and after taking into account of the Set-off
Arrangement), by way of Open Offer of not less than 3,958,453,602
Offer Shares and not more than 4,053,836,574 Offer Shares at the
Subscription Price of HK$0.035 per Offer Share on the basis of three
(8) Offer Shares for every one (1) existing Share held on the Record
Date and payable in full on application.

The Board also proposes that the board lot for trading on the Stock
Exchange will be changed from 10,000 Shares to 40,000 Shares with
effect from 9:00 a.m. on Thursday, 28 January 2016.

As at 7 January 2016, Mr. Wang is the holder of the Convertible
Bonds. Pursuant to the Wang’s Undertaking, Mr. Wang and the
Company have agreed that the Subscription Price required to be
paid by Mr. Wang for his subscription in respect of the 1,182,719,949
Offer Shares under the Wang’s Undertaking would be settled by
way of: (i) HK$19.14 million by the Set-off Arrangement against the
Convertible Bonds; and (i) the remaining balance of approximately
HK$22.26 million in cash.
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Pursuant to Rule 10.39 of the GEM Listing Rules, any controlling
Shareholders and their associates or, where there are no controlling
Shareholders, the Directors (excluding the independent non-
executive Directors), the chief executive of the Company and
their respective associates will abstain from voting in favour of the
resolutions relating to the Open Offer. As at the date of this report, as
there are no controlling Shareholders, only the Directors (excluding
the independent non-executive Directors), the chief executive of the
Company and their respective associates will be required to abstain
from voting in favour of the resolutions relating to the Open Offer at
the SGM.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Wang, the Chairman and an
executive Director, together with his associates are holding an
aggregate of 394,239,983 Shares, representing approximately
29.88% of the issued share capital of the Company. Save as
disclosed above, no other Directors (excluding the independent
non-executive Directors), the chief executive of the Company
and their associates hold any Shares as at the date of this report.
Accordingly, Mr. Wang is a connected person of the Company.
The Set-off Arrangement as contemplated under the Underwriting
Agreement therefore constitutes connected transaction on the part
of the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The
Set-off Arrangement is subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements and the approval of the Independent Shareholders at
the SGM under the GEM Listing Rules.

As Mr. Wang is deemed to have a material interest in the Set-off
Arrangement, Mr. Wang and his associates shall abstain from voting
at the SGM on the resolutions in relation to the Set-off Arrangement.
The voting at the SGM will be taken by way of poll. The SGM of the
Company will be convened on 18 April 2016.

For details of open offer, proposed change in board lot size and
connected transaction: set-off of the convertible bonds, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 7 January 2016, 28
January 2016 and 22 February 2016.
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Proposed share consolidation, change in board lot
size, revised expected timetable of the open offer
and entering into the supplemental underwriting
agreement

On 15 March 2016, the Board proposes to implement the Share
Consolidation on the basis that every ten (10) Shares of HK$0.01
each in the issued and unissued share capital of the Company be
consolidated into one (1) New Share of HK$0.10 each in the issued
and unissued share capital of the Company.

As at the date of this report, there are 1,319,484,534 Shares of
HK$0.01 each in issue and fully paid or credited as fully paid.
Assuming no Shares will be issued or repurchased from the date of
this report up to the date of the SGM, there will be approximately
131,948,453 New Shares of HK$0.10 each in issue and fully paid
or credited as fully paid following the Share Consolidation becoming
effective.

The Share Consolidation is conditional upon, among other things, the
approval of Shareholders at the SGM. To the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief having made all reasonable
enquiries, no Shareholder are required to abstain from voting in
approving the Share Consolidation at the SGM.

As at 15 March 2016, the Shares are currently trade in board lot size
of 40,000 Shares. The Board also proposed that, upon the Share
Consolidation becoming effective, the board lot size of the New
Shares for trading on the Stock Exchange will be changed to 8,000
New Shares.

Based on the closing price of HK$0.07 per Share (equivalent to
HK$0.70 per New Share) as quoted on the Stock Exchange as at
the last trading day immediately before 15 March 2016, the board lot
value is HK$2,800 in the current board lot size of 40,000 Shares, and
HK$5,600 in the proposed new board lot size of 8,000 New Shares.

As the expected date of despatch of the Circular is postponed,
the expected timetable for the Open Offer and the transactions
contemplated thereunder will be revised as disclosed therein.
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In light of the revised expected timetable for the Open Offer and the
Share Consolidation, after arm’s length negotiations between the
Company and the Underwriter, the Company and the Underwriter
have on 15 March 2016 (after trading hours) entered into the
Supplemental Underwriting Agreement to reflect the change in
the revised expected timetable for the Open Offer and to take into
consideration of the Share Consolidation. The voting at the SGM will
taken by way of poll. The SGM of the Company will be convened on
18 April 2016.

For details of proposed share consolidation, change in board lot
size, revised expected timetable of the open offer and entering
into the supplemental underwriting agreement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 15 March 2016, 22 March
2016 and 24 March 2016, and the circular of the Company dated 29
March 2016.

RE-DESIGNATION AND RESIGNATION OF
DIRECTOR

Mr. Shi retired as the executive Director with effect from 26 May 2015
due to the resolution was not passed at AGM 2014.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2015 was audited
by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will
expire upon the annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-
appointment of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the auditors
of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

29 March 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Bl #F &3t % A R A F

Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

HL

To the shareholders of China CBM Group Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to 210,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Companies
Act of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
Y8 S A i 4t o

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2015, and of the Group’s financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

EMPHASIS OF MATTER

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 2(b) to the
consolidated financial statements which indicates that the Group
incurred a net loss of approximately RMB255,026,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2015 and, as of that date, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB281,569,000. These conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Jonathan T. S. Lai

Practising Certificate Number: P0O4165
Hong Kong, 29 March 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AR AR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2015 2014
—Z-4fF —T-mEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
LhEs ARET T ARETT
Revenue Y= 5 329,120 301,119
Cost of sales SHERCAR (311,581) (274,791)
Gross profit EF 17,539 26,328
Other income and gains HEHUA RS 6 464 503
Selling and distribution costs SHE R A (8,006) (5,540)
Administrative expenses THRAX (50,625) (47,198)
Other operating expenses HAabs & (4,343) (38,652)
Loss on extinguishment of THERMAGZEE
financial liability 32(a) - (57,024)
Finance costs B E R 7(c) (14,324) (16,057)
Impairment loss on goodwill B REEE 15 (3,551) (104,298)
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EERERE 19 (134,385) (138,702)
Impairment loss on property, M - Hes R
plant and equipment HREEE (92,086) —
Loss before taxation MREBLATE 1B 7 (289,317) (380,640)
Income tax credit TSt e 8(a) 34,291 38,324
Loss for the year AEEEHE (255,026) (342,316)
Attributable to: T 5 FE4h -
Equity shareholders of the Company VNNV Za S (235,943) (333,348)
Non-controlling interests FEIZE R A (19,083) (8,968)
(255,026) (342,316)
RMB RMB
AR AR
Loss per share BREE 13
— Basic — &R (20.49) cents & | (27.35) cents 7>
— Diluted — s (20.49) cents 7 | (27.35) cents 73

J

F71 AR 210 B Z WKL F5RE BB
REAFED ©

The notes on pages 71 to 210 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Aok o 1 B 30 2 i 1 %

For the year ended 31 December 2015 &2 —FE—AF+ - A=1+—HIFEF

2015 2014
—E-hf%F —T-mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®TT
Loss for the year REEEIR (255,026) (342,316)
Other comprehensive AEEHMEZEASX
expense for the year
ltem that may be reclassified HiggeEH D18
subsequently to profit or loss: BEmIEE -
Exchange differences on translation MEIRINETEB 7S
of financial statements Wk BN ERE
of foreign operations 1,993 (7,391)
Total comprehensive expense AEEEZHMAXHEE
for the year (253,033) (849,707)
Total comprehensive expense THELE 2 ER 4%
attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company RAE =R (233,950) (340,739)
Non-controlling interests AR (19,083) (8,968)
(253,033) (349,707)
|
The notes on pages 71 to 210 form part of these consolidated 2570 BZ 210 B 2 MK It SR A BT 5 TR

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
i B M BHR VLR

At 31 December 2015 R—FE—AF+—-H=+—H
2015 2014
—E-0F —T—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR®T T ARETT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Goodwill EES 15 - =
Property, plant and equipment IE =Y 17 800,681 872,877
Prepaid lease payments for land ERLH TR LA S
under operating leases 18 35,937 32,689
Intangible assets mEE 19 - 141,661
Deposits and prepayments HESENEEE 20 26,530 66,365
Deferred tax assets BIERIREE 31(b) 58 88
863,206 1,113,680
Current assets REEE
Prepaid lease payments for land LERLTRMN LS
under operating leases 18 863 810
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABRZZ
through profit or loss THEE 22 200 200
Inventories FE 23(a) 8,052 9,833
Trade and other receivables JREE WAL B 30 B EL At JRE ALK 24 111,772 112,770
Tax recoverable BEEE 31(a) 2,000 2,000
Cash and cash equivalents He MIREEEY 25 45,437 43,930
168,324 169,543
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables FERERR R EMENKIE 26 364,754 380,063
Bank and other borrowings —FRIHZRITR
due within one year H gk 27 43,080 87,500
Obligations under finance leases A E TR ERIE 28 31,985 29,145
Provision Rt 30 6,612 4,546
Tax payable FESHIE 31(a) 3,462 2,901
449,893 504,155
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (281,569) (334,612)
Total assets less current liabilities ®“EERREARS 581,637 779,068
|
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

TR RN

At 31 December 2015 R —F—HFE1+=—A=+—H

2015 2014
—Z-4fF —T-mEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BRE ARET T ARETT
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Obligations under finance leases BB ERIE 28 41,415 1,255
Convertible bonds AR EH 29 6,304 =
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIBRE 31(b) 13,514 42,737
61,233 43,992
Net assets EEFE 520,404 735,076
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital gz 32(a) 10,910 9,432
Reserves E 522,223 719,290
Equity attributable to equity PAYNGIL Edib ey £
shareholders of the Company 533,133 728,722
Non-controlling interests eI i e (12,729) 6,354
Total equity MR 520,404 735,076

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29
March 2016.

Wang Zhong Sheng
By
Director

EZE

The notes on pages 71 to 210 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
w1 Mt S W) 3¢

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARARRRRERL
Share Non-
Share Share  General Translation Contributed option Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve surplus reserve losses Total interests equity
FiEkR

Bx  BftEE -RER REGE ARG WREGRE Z0ER it B 4E
RMBOOD ~ RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBIOOD
ARETL ARMTT ARMTR ARETT ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR

Balanceat 1 Janvary 2014  M-E-[E—-A-H&H 47333 1,184.921 5,004 (130 - 30849 (462640) 805427 15,322 820,749
Loss for the year rEEER = = = = = - (333348) (333,348 (8968)  (342,316)
Other comprehensive TEEEBZERY

expense for the year - - - (7,391) - - - (7,391) - (7,391)
Total comprehensive TEERER LR

expense for the year - - - (7,391) - - (333,348) (340,739 (8968  (349,707)
Issue of new shares EE)
— Placing and subscription ~ — B & RiZEZE 8438 159,624 - - - - - 168,062 - 168062
— Open Offer —RRRE 24,923 74,769 - - - - - 99,692 - 99,692
Transaction costs BIFRAEERANA

attributable 1o issue

of new shares - (3,720) - - - - - (3,720) - (3,720)
Capial Reorganisation e (1,262 (1,312,743) - — 1,384,005 - - - - -
Transer a% - - - - (199,167) - 799,167 - - -
Trangferto general reserve.~ EAZ %R - - 3179 - - - (3,179) - - -
Balance at RZE-RF

31 December 2014 TZA=T-B&R 9432 102,851 8273 (1521) 584838 30,849 - 728,122 6,354 735,076
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
s 1 M ot 58 W)y ¢

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
ARRRRRRER.
Share  Convertible Non-
Share Share  General Translation Contributed option bonds Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reseve  surplus  reseve  reserve losses Total interests equity
TRRES FER
kA& ROEE -MREE AERE EHER BREGR i EiER &3t BE  fEg
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEETR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETn ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETz
Balance at 1 January 2015 NE-RE-F-A&H 9432 102,851 8,213 (1521) 584,838 30,849 - - 1872 6,354 735076
Loss for the year KEEER - - - - - - - (235943 (235943  (19,083)  (265,026)
Other comprefiensive FEREMRERR
expense for the year - - - 1,993 - - - - 1,998 - 1,993
Total comprehensive FEERERNEE
expense for the year - - - 1,993 - - - (235943  (233950)  (19,083)  (263,033)
Issue of consiceration shares ~ ETRBR(A 1478 28,281 - - - - - - 29,709 - 29,709
Recognition of equy ARRES
component of LERHR
convertiole bonds - - - - - - 10,544 - 10,544 - 10,544
Defered tax rlating to BHRRES
convertile bonds BT - - - - - - (1,892) - (1,892) - (1,892)
Balance at 31 December 2015 R=F-F&
ToR=T-REH 10910 131,082 8,273 (5528 584838 30,849 865 (295943 533133 (12729) 520404
The notes on pages 71 to 210 form part of these consolidated 2571 B % 210 B 2 M sH A It F47 4 B 53R

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
A Bl R R

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E-1F =l
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥T R ARETT
Operating activities BT
Loss before taxation MR AT EE (289,317) (380,640)
Adjustments for: ANAIES SRS
Depreciation of property, V% - s NEREITE
plant and equipment 74,582 55,482
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments &L NFEN i
for land under operating leases ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ 591 810
Amortisation of intangible assets B & ES 7,276 29,625
Impairment loss on goodwill e REE R 3,551 104,298
Impairment loss on intangible assets \|EEREEE 134,385 138,702
Impairment loss on property, Y - HESR
plant and equipment BB REEE 92,086 =
Interest income FBWA (137) (56)
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE « MR RE
plant and equipment K+ R 2 518
and land use right 266 864
Impairment loss on trade and FEU AR X % E At FE LK
other receivables OB 2 B EE 2,391 340
Loss on extinguishment TiHHemAaBEEE
of financial liability - 57,024
Reversal of impairment loss i3 HﬂZﬁE % EL At FE L
on trade and other receivables FRIB 2 RE RSB E - (209)
Finance costs B f%, 7 14,324 16,057
39,998 22,297
Changes in working capital LEECHE
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL, (38m) 2,300 (1,958)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and EEH EE%K&EIT@EEH&
other receivables I8 ( #hn) R (201) 67,307
Decrease in trade and other payables & HHE R N b AT
I8 (19,913) (56,150)
Increase in provision for EERERELM
production safety 2,066 1,116
Cash generated from operations REXEREECZHE 24,250 32,612
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid [mE G (1,749) (12,057)
Net cash generated from REEBEEZ
operating activities REFH 22,501 20,555
Cash flows from investing RETHEEZ
activities HERE
Payment for purchase of property, BE \%% ez MR
plant and equipment NEis (32,018) (67,650)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEDE - HES N RE
plant and equipment and K+ Hbfsh FAHE 2 FTiS 308
land use right 20,480 417
Decrease in deposits IS SENE S
and prepayments Vo 3,744 690
Interest received EYFIE 137 56
Net cash inflow on acquisition W B AR 2
of subsidiaries e mAFRE 35 313 —
Net cash used in investing activities REEFEFFAZRE T (7,344) (66,487)
~
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

A BT ER

For the year ended 31 December 2015 &2 —

—AFTZA=1—HIFE

2015 2014
—F-HF —T-mEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Pt ARET T ARETT
Cash flows from financing activities BEEHEECRERE
Proceeds from issue of new shares BITHR (D 2 FT1S 5IE - 169,883
Transaction costs for issue of new shares ?é‘ﬁ%ﬁﬂxfﬂ R A - (3,720)
Proceeds from new bank FTIGIRTT REMEKZ
and other borrowings FT{S 3118 10,000 60,847
Repayment of bank and EBIRITREMMER
other borrowings (54,420) (98,251)
Interest paid on bank and RITREMERZ
other borrowings 2RHE (5,842) (10,143)
Other borrowing costs paid BT EMEFKA (980) (152)
Proceed from sale and lease back HERERODMERS
transaction Z TS EIE 20 98,000 —
Capital element of finance leases BEMA) 2 BEARE D (55,000) (33,106)
Interest element of finance leases BEMRL 2 F 25 (7,425) (5,762)
Net cash (used in)/generated BMEES (FTA) EEz
from financing activities HEFEE (15,667) 79,596
Net (decrease)/increase in cash iﬁ%&ﬁ%%fﬁ%
and cash equivalents WD) S EIFEE (510) 33,664
Cash and cash equivalents R—A—HBzZ
at 1 January HEeERBESEEY 43,930 17,656
Effect of foreign exchange ExEE s wE
rate changes 2,017 (7,390)
Cash and cash equivalents R+=—A=+—H2
at 31 December RERRESEEY 25 45,437 43,930
|
The notes on pages 71 to 210 form part of these consolidated F71EE 210 B Z MR S48 6 M I5H
financial statements. %EEP T’\ °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands on 15 July 2002 under the Companies
Laws of the Cayman Islands.

During the year ended 2014, the Company has been
deregistered in the Cayman Islands and duly continued in
Bermuda as an exempted company under the laws of Bermuda
and the change of domicile became effective on 23 April 2014.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market (the “GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are
disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section in the annual
report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the business of exploitation,
liquefaction production and sale of natural gas in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”).

—E-REFH FEREREEERD
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hEREREBEGRAF ([AQFE))
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

72

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs), which collective
term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (HKASs) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the group and the
company. Note 3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis, except those disclosed otherwise in the accounting
policies below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

74

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated

financial statements (Continueqd)

Going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
RMB255,026,000 during the year ended 31 December
2015 and, as of that date, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB281,569,000. These conditions indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and that the Group may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Nevertheless, the directors of the Company had adopted
the going concern basis in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group based on
the following factors:

(1)  Other borrowing of RMB13,080,000 disclosed in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements
were due for repayment within 12 months in
accordance with the loan agreement entered
into between the Group and a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company (Note
40). However, prior to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements the borrowing had
been rolled over for a further 12 months and will be
due for repayment after 31 December 2016. Up to
the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the non-controlling shareholder of the
subsidiary of the Company has not indicated its
intention to withdraw the credit facilities granted to
the Group;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements (Continueqd)

Going concern (Continued)

@

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (“Mr. Wang”), a substantial
shareholder, the chairman and executive director of
the Company, has confirmed to provide continuing
financial support to the Group to enable it to continue
as a going concern and to settle its liabilities as and
when they fall due in the foreseeable future;

Management is formulating, and will implement, cost
saving measures to improve the Group’s financial
performance and cash flows;

As detailed in note 42, subsequent to the end of
the reporting period, the Company announced its
proposal to raise fund of not less than HK$119.41
million and not more than HK$122.74 million (before
expenses and after taking into account of the set-
off arrangement) by way of open offer of not less
than 3,958,453,602 offer shares and not more than
4,053,836,574 offer shares of HK$0.01 each on
the basis of three offer shares for every one existing
share held on the record date at the subscription
price of HK$0.035 per offer share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

76

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated

(c)

financial statements (Continueqd)

Going concern (Continued)
Provided that these measures can successfully improve

the liquidity of the Group, the directors of the Company
are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for the foreseeable
future. According, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis. Should
the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the
value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests
and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position in accordance with the accounting policies in note
2 depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate

or joint venture.

Investments in subsidiaries presented in the statement
of financial position included in note 41 are stated at
cost less impairment losses (see note 2(j)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a

disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

(d) Business combinations and goodwill

(i) Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

@i

Business combinations (Continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets

acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

— deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

— liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

— assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

80

2. XESHBEK #®)

d) ¥BKEHEREE (&)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill

(Continued)

(@i

Business combinations (Continued)
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of

the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in
the event of liquidation may be initially measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another HKFRS.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

@i

Business combinations (Continued)
When the consideration transferred by the Group

in a business combination includes assets or
liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred
in a business combination. Changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is
classified. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with
HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate,
with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

82

2. XESHBEK #®)

d) ¥BKEHEREE (&)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill

(Continued)

(@i

(ii)

Business combinations (Continued)
When a business combination is achieved in stages,

the Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control)
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in
the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were
disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination
is incomplete by the end of the reporting period
in which the combination occurs, the Group
reports provisional amounts for the items for which
the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting
policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

(ii)

Goodwill (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units (or groups of cash-generating units) that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

84

(Continued)

(e) Other investments in debt and equity

securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated
at fair value, which is their transaction price unless it is
determined that the fair value at initial recognition differs
from the transaction price and that fair value is evidenced
by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset
or liability or based on a valuation technique that uses only
data from observable markets. Cost includes attributable
transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently accounted for
as follows, depending on their classification.

Investments in securities held for trading are classified
as current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end of
each reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with
any resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does
not include any dividends or interest earned on these
investments as these are recognised in accordance with
the policies set out in note 2(t).

Dated debt securities that the Group have the positive
ability and intention to hold to maturity are classified as
held-to-maturity securities. Held-to-maturity securities are
stated at amortised cost less impairment losses (see note

2(j).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Other investments in debt and equity

®

securities (Continued)

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of
the above categories are classified as available-for-
sale securities. At the end of each reporting period the
fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss
being recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the fair value reserve.
As an exception to this, investments in equity securities
that do not have a quoted price in an active market for an
identical instrument and whose fair value cannot otherwise
be reliably measured are recognised in the statement of
financial position at cost less impairment losses (note 2())).
Dividend income from equity securities and interest income
from debt securities calculated using the effective interest
method are recognised in profit or loss in accordance with
the policies set out in note 2(t). Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from changes in the amortised cost of
debt securities are also recognised in profit or loss.

When the investments are derecognised or impaired
(see note 2(j)), the cumulative gain or loss recognised
in equity is reclassified to profit or loss. Investments are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commits
to purchase/sell the investments or they expire.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially
at fair value. At the end of each reporting period the fair
value is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement
to fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
except where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge
accounting or hedge the net investment in a foreign
operation, in which case recognition of any resultant gain
or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2. XESHBER #)

(@ Property, plant and equipment (@) Y= HERRE

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see note 2())).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which
they are located, and an appropriate proportion of
production overheads and borrowing costs (see note 2(v)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the
revaluation reserve to retained profits/accumulated losses
and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

— Buildings held for own use Over the shorter of
unexpired term
of the leases or
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20 to 30 years
— Leasehold improvements 2-5 years
— Pipelines 5-20 years
— Plant and machinery 3-15 years
— Computer equipment 3-5 years
— Furniture and equipment 3-10 years
— Transportation and 4-10 years

motor vehicles
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2. XESHBER #)

(@) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) (@) P - WB|RRE (&)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction and pending installation
and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Cost includes the costs of construction of the
buildings, the costs of plant and machinery and interest
charges arising from borrowings used to finance these
assets during the period of construction or installation
and testing. No provision for depreciation is made on
construction in progress until such time the relevant
assets are completed and are available for their intended
use. When the assets concerned are brought into use,
the costs are transferred to other property, plant and
equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy
as stated above.

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and
the drilling of commercially proven development wells but
do not include geological and geophysical costs which are
expensed directly to profit or loss as they are incurred, is
capitalised as coalbed methane development costs within
construction in progress. Coalbed methane development
costs are stated at cost less any identified impairment
loss. Coalbed methane development costs are classified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation on these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

88

(g

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Tangible assets acquired for use in well drilling works of
ground drainage activities are classified as property, plant
and equipment.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded
as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are reported at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see
note 2())).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. Intangible assets with finite
useful lives are amortised from the date they are available
for use over their estimated useful lives.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

0]

(Continued)

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the
useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed
annually to determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment
for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance
with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets with
finite lives as set out above.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific
asset or assets for an agreed period of time in return for
a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination
is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement
takes the legal form of a lease.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

90

0]

Leased assets (Continued)

@i

Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership are classified as being
held under finance leases. Leases which do not
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group are classified as operating
leases, except that land held for own use under an
operating lease, the fair value of which cannot be
measured separately from the fair value of a building
situated thereon at the inception of the lease, is
accounted for as being held under a finance lease,
unless the building is also clearly held under an
operating lease. For these purposes, the inception of
the lease is the time that the lease was first entered
into by the Group, or taken over from the previous
lessee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Leased assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair
value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present
value of the minimum lease payments, of such
assets are included in property, plant and equipment
and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance
charges, are recorded as obligations under finance
leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which write
off the cost or valuation of the assets over the term
of the relevant lease or, where it is likely the group
will obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the
asset, as set out in note 2(g). Impairment losses are
accounted for in accordance with the accounting
policy as set out in note 2(j). Finance charges implicit
in the lease payments are charged to profit or loss
over the period of the leases so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of charge on
the remaining balance of the obligations for each
accounting period. Contingent rentals are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments
over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived
from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent
rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

92

(i) Leased assets (Continued)

(iii)

Operating lease charges (Continued)
The cost of acquiring land held under an operating

lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease term except where the property
is classified as an investment property or is held for
development for sale.

() Impairment of assets

(@i

Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and
other current and non-current receivables that are
stated at cost or amortised cost or are classified
as available-for-sale securities are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period to determine whether
there is objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable data
that comes to the attention of the Group about one
or more of the following loss events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

;) Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Impairment of investments in debt and equity

securities and other receivables (Continued)

— a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of an investment in an equity instrument
below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

— For unquoted equity securities carried at
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial asset and the estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the current market rate
of return for a similar financial asset where the
effect of discounting is material. Impairment
losses for equity securities carried at cost are
not reversed.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

94

o)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

@i

Impairment of investments in debt and equity

securities and other receivables (Continued)

For trade and other current receivables and
other financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition of
these assets), where the effect of discounting is
material. This assessment is made collectively
where these financial assets share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status,
and have not been individually assessed as
impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets
which are assessed for impairment collectively
are based on historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics similar to
the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or
loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not
result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

(ii)

Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables (Continued)
Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors and
bills receivable included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful
but not remote. In this case, the impairment
losses for doubtful debts are recorded using an
allowance account. When the Group is satisfied
that recovery is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against trade debtors and
bills receivable directly and any amounts held in the
allowance account relating to that debt are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
charged to the allowance account are reversed
against the allowance account. Other changes in the
allowance account and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off directly are recognised
in profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

—  goodwill;

—  property, plant and equipment;

— prepaid lease payments for land under
operating leases;

— intangible assets;

—  deposits and prepayments; and

— investments in subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

96

o)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable

amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for use
and intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a
pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable)
or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

2.

98

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the GEM Listing Rules, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial year. At the end
of the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria
as it would at the end of the financial year (see notes

2()(i) and (ii).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period
in respect of goodwill, available-for-sale equity
securities and unquoted equity securities carried
at cost are not reversed in a subsequent period.
This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss,
would have been recognised had the impairment
been assessed only at the end of the financial year
to which the interim period relates. Consequently, if
the fair value of an available-for-sale equity security
increases in the remainder of the annual period, or
in any other period subsequently, the increase is
recognised in other comprehensive income and not
profit or loss.

(k) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs
of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

k)

M

Inventories (Continued)

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised
as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment of
doubtful debts (see note 2())), except where the receivables
are interest-free loans made to related parties without any
fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would
be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at
cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

100

(m) Convertible bonds

@i

Convertible bonds that contain an equity
component

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holder, where
the number of shares that would be issued on
conversion and the value of the consideration that
would be received at that time do not vary, are
accounted for as compound financial instruments
which contain both a liability component and an
equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible bonds is measured as the present
value of the future interest and principal payments,
discounted at the market rate of interest applicable
at the time of initial recognition to similar liabilities
that do not have a conversion option. Any excess
of proceeds over the amount initially recognised as
the liability component is recognised as the equity
component. Transaction costs that relate to the issue
of a compound financial instrument are allocated to
the liability and equity components in proportion to
the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised
in profit or loss on the liability component is
calculated using the effective interest method. The
equity component is recognised in the convertible
bonds reserve until either the bond is converted or
redeemed.

If the bond is converted, the convertible bonds
reserve, together with the carrying amount of the
liability component at the time of conversion, is
transferred to share capital and share premium as
consideration for the shares issued. If the note is
redeemed, the convertible bonds reserve is released
directly to retained profits/accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m) Convertible bonds (Continued)

(ii)

Other convertible bonds
Convertible bonds which do not contain an equity
component are accounted for as follows:

At initial recognition the derivative component of
the convertible bonds is measured at fair value and
presented as part of derivative financial instruments
(see note 2(f)). Any excess of proceeds over
the amount initially recognised as the derivative
component is recognised as the liability component.
Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible note are allocated to the liability and
derivative components in proportion to the allocation
of proceeds. The portion of the transaction costs
relating to the liability component is recognised
initially as part of the liability. The portion relating to
the derivative component is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The derivative component is subsequently
remeasured in accordance with note 2(f). The liability
component is subsequently carried at amortised
cost. The interest expense recognised in profit or
loss on the liability component is calculated using the
effective interest method. If the bond is converted,
the carrying amounts of the derivative and liability
components are transferred to share capital and
share premium as consideration for the shares
issued. If the bond is redeemed, any difference
between the amount paid and the carrying amounts
of both components is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

102

(n)

(o)

(p)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective
interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in
accordance with note 2(x), trade and other payables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q) Employee benefits

i)

(ii)

Short term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds required
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance and mandatory central pension
schemes organised by the local government of the
PRC government are recognised as an expense
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Share-based payments

Share options granted by the Company to
employees of the Group in an equity-settled share-
based payment arrangement

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost with
a corresponding increase in a share option reserve
within equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date using the Binomial option pricing model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share options, the total
estimated fair value of the share options is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

104

(q) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

Share-based payments (Continued)
Share options granted by the Company to

employees of the Group in an equity-settled share-
based payment arrangement (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the share option reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of options that vest (with
a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount
is recognised in the share option reserve until either
the option is exercised (when it is transferred to
the share premium account) or the option expires
(when it is released directly to the retained profits/
accumulated losses).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q) Employee benefits (Continued)

(7]

(i) Share-based payments (Continued)
Share options granted to consultant in an equity-

settled share-based payment transactions

Share options issued in exchange for goods or
services are measured at fair values of the goods
or services rendered, unless that fair value cannot
be reliably measured, in which case the goods
or services received are measured by reference
to the fair value of the share options granted.
The fair values of goods or services received are
recognised as expenses immediately, unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.
Corresponding adjustment has been made to equity
(share option reserve).

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

106

(9]

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused
tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken
into account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can
be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(7]

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 &2 —

—AFTZA=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions

are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Group intends either to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered, intend to realise the
current tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2015 & %

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Provisions and contingent liabilities

®

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue
is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(i) Sales of liquefied coalbed gas and piped natural
gas
Revenue from sales of liquefied coalbed gas and
piped natural gas are recognised when the gas is
delivered and title has passed. Revenue excludes
value-added and business taxes and trade
discounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEER®

(Continued)
(® Revenue recognition (Continued) O WEHER (2

(i) Income from provision of gas supply connection (i) RUMTERRE WA
services
Revenue from provision of gas supply connection IR REBIRT < W
services is recognised when the relevant construction T2 5w T REEHERR
work is completed and connection services are TEREIERR o
rendered.

(i) Income from provision of liquefied coalbed gas (i) RERCEBRVUARREZ
logistics services /PN
Revenue from provision of logistics services is R RS 2 Was R R
recognised when services are rendered. ARSI HERR

(iv) Interest income (iv) FEA
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the FEWATIREF A ERF
effective interest method. HOEFHERFER ©

(v} Government grants (v) BUFZEERL
Government grants are recognised in the fis ] & B2 7 °F B8 S0 ESUT
consolidated statement of financial position initially AL MASESFEBN
when there is reasonable assurance that they will SRREFTHI A A I - RIS
be received and that the Group will comply with R AR A SRR R A A
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that FHER  HEAREMES
compensate the Group for expenses incurred FX A RN EEFRAZ AR
are recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a —HIfE A RN B e R 1
systematic basis in the same periods in which the REBWA - HEAEEEE
expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the PR R EAE A & ERRE
Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from the BRIk HERZBEE
carrying amount of the asset and consequently are KRR FERAR DT ER
effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful THAREBEENERER -
life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation
expense.
A government grant that becomes receivables VEREE 2 A BB
as compensation for expenses or losses already B A EBIRMEAIR T EE
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate B 2 B YB3 B a0 8 R 3R
financial support to the entity with no future related MERER AR - FER R R
costs shall be recognised in profit or loss of the BatER -

period in which it becomes receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2. XESHBER #)

W gpE

(u) Translation of foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”).
The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) and the presentation currency is RMB. The
reason for using RMB as a presentation currency is that
the functional currency of the principal entities within the
Group is RMB.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 &2 —

S AE A=t ALFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

112

(u) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

)

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items, including goodwill arising on
consolidation of foreign operations acquired on or after
1 January 2005, are translated into RMB at the closing
foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity in the translation reserve. Goodwill arising on
consolidation of a foreign operation acquired before
1 January 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange
rate that applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign
operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted
or complete.

CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED  Annual Report 2015

2. XESHBER #)

() INEEBE (&)

W)

BINRBZREDIREARRZHE
BeERBEZEXRESAR
%o MBANKRER (BREK
ER_ZFEFRF—A—BIZE
WREZBINEBMELEZEE)
BN mERR 2T ERGE
BARE  -EAZENZR
PREMEm PR EER NGRS
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁéﬂiﬂ“ﬁaﬂiﬁ ESESR=y
R-_FZEAFE-A—BZAkE
ZEIRBMELEZEE ik
WHEESINETGE A 2 ERIE o

BHERINEBEE Eﬁiﬁ%ﬁl\ﬁ
BEBNRFTELZENLE
BRI - BRREmER ‘*EZ‘TE

X 5
I

EERA

RBA ERULEEEEMER
FEA WA — BUER R FHEE
ABTERZRHEZEERA
ERZBEEZBNKAETE
Ko HERAARELEHEA
S 3H ©

BREEBREERA— BB HE
EXRAEBEELMX  ELR
ERAMEEERABE R &
& P s B R E A TR 1T AR
FIERTER - £ EREE
BRABREREHHEFMUANE
REB1 24 THEH LS STk B -
fEERAEEEENFLRETE
7 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Segment reporting

(0%}

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group’s lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss the holder incurs because a specified
debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated
as at fair value through profit or loss, are subsequently
measured at the higher of:

— the amount of the obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

— the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the revenue recognition policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 &2 —F— A F+ _-A=1+—HIFE

2.

114

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(y) Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

() has control or joint control of the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity
is a member).

(iiy  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity

and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(y) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

v)

(vi)

(vi)

(viil

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group. If the Group
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers
are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the reporting entity or to
the parent of the reporting entity.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group:

o Amendments to HKAS 19, Employee benefits: Defined
benefits plans: Employee contributions

o Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 — 2012 Cycle

o Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011 — 2013 Cycle

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
Impacts of the adoption of the amendments to HKFRSs are
discussed below:

Amendments to HKAS 19, Employee benefits:
Defined benefit plans: Employee contributions

The amendments introduce a relief to reduce the complexity
of accounting for certain contributions from employees or third
parties under defined benefit plans. When the contributions are
eligible for the practical expedient provided by the amendments,
a company is allowed to recognise the contributions as a
reduction of the service cost in the period in which the related
service is rendered, instead of including them in calculating the
defined benefit obligation. The amendments do not have an
impact on these consolidated financial statements as the Group
does not have any defined benefits plans.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012
Cycle and 2011-2013 Cycle

These two cycles of annual improvements contain amendments
to standards with consequential amendments to other
standards. Among them, HKAS 24, Related party disclosures
has been amended to expand the definition of a “related party”
to include a management entity that provides key management
personnel services to the reporting entity, and to require the
disclosure of the amounts incurred for obtaining the key
management personnel services provided by the management
entity. These amendments do not have an impact on the
Group’s related party disclosures as the Group does not obtain
key management personnel services from management entities.

The directors consider that the adoption of the amendments
to HKFRSs has no material effect on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued a few amendments to
standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2015 and which have not been adopted in these
consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments®
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts?
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers®
Accounting for Acquisitions
of Interests in
Joint Operations’
Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation’

Amendments to HKFRS 11

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES SEHBENES )
(Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 16 Agricultural: Bearer Plants’ BB LR B EEMN
and HKAS 41 F16H K VizEZ/M
HEGEHER|
415 AR
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative' BB G EER HEE
FARZIERIAR
Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in BT LR FEAVA ) =0 e
Separate Financial FOTHZMERTAR e Z
Statements'’
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale and Contribution of ARV HMERR REZRABE
and HKAS 28 Assets between an F105H KL AT A=
Investor and its Associate BB LR PEEZEE
or Joint Venture* F 28R ZIEFT A HERZEA*
Amendments to HKFRS 10,  Investment Entities: ARV RELER RETE :EH
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 Applying the F105% - B HEAERZ
Consolidation Exception’ BT RS A2 R VIEN DA
ER VL ANE
GETAERISE 28 5%
ZAERT AR
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to BBV MELER —F——FF
HKFRSs 2012 — 2014 ZAERTAR —EmF
Cycle’ R &F
B HREE
R FZ 2

1 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January ! R-E—R"F-A—RBdzERrze
2016. SHEARIAERL -

2 HR - R"F-A—HAzdz&MAZ
BOFEEBNBMEEMBRERE
e

2 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on or
after 1 January 2016.

8 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 8 RZZE-N\F-—A—Akz&MRrzE
2018. FTHAR AL o

4 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after a date to be ¢ WigFEE 2 BRIk 2 % s 2 SETE
determined. AR

2N SE MR R A S PACTIR LS
BXREABREELNTE MR AREH
RSN 2 BRI et B AEEN KL
RELRMBRRNERERNTE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these amendments to standards is expected to
be in the period of initial application but is not yet in a position
to state whether those amendments to standards would have
a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and
financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

(@) Sources of estimation uncertainty

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(@i

Estimation of impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units (“CGU(s)”) to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, an
impairment loss of approximately RMB3,551,000
(2014: RMB104,298,000) was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss resulting
in the carrying amount of the coalbed methane
exploration and development, natural gas liquefaction
and liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) distribution CGU
being written down to its recoverable amount. As at
31 December 2015 and 2014, the carrying amount
of the Group’s goodwill was fully impaired. Details of
the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in
note 16.

4.

S HE R A

HE R AR R BEERAEMBEER
(BREEGEEERBEATAERLE A
HIRREIR) (EH R ERTA -

(@ hEHTREE M ZRIR
Rt T REEZ EBFRMT -

@i

—E-AFFR PEABREEERLD

AERE A5t

ErmEES hRmERRM
AESEREZREELE
7 ((ReELEM]) 2F
REE - - FFEEREER -
AEEREFREELEN
BHELZRFRERE -
AR —B&E 2 BER KA
HRE - WAKREREZ
EReRINEY  AlgE
EERBERE

Hz—_Z2—RFE+=-A
=+—BLEFE RE
EERRBERHOARE
3,551,000 7T (=& — M4 :
A B #104,298,0007T) HY
REEE - BEREERRE
kA% - KARRERBRIE
AAR ([BRIEXAR]D &
$HIR & EE B A IREE R
BEEMRECE  RZF
—hERZZE—NEFE+HA
=t+—H xEBEBHEZE
HEERERE - ATk ES5E
ZETEF BRI 1645 -

|
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

120

(@) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(ii)

Estimation of impairment of intangible assets
The Group performs annual tests on whether
there has been impairment of intangible assets in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in
note 2(j). The recoverable amounts of CGUs are
determined based on value in use calculations.
These calculations require the use of estimates and
assumptions made by management on the future
operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates,
and other assumptions underlying the value in use
calculations. As at 31 December 2015, the carrying
amount of the Group’s intangible assets was fully
impaired (2014: RMB141,661,000).

An impairment loss on intangible assets of
approximately RMB134,385,000 (2014:
RMB138,702,000) was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2015 resulting in the carrying
amounts of the coalbed methane exploration and
development, natural gas liquefaction and LNG
distribution CGU and the piped natural gas located
in Guangxi CGU (2014: coalbed methane exploration
and development, natural gas liquefaction and
LNG distribution CGU) being written down to its
recoverable amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(@) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives
and residual values for the Group’s property, plant
and equipment in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in note 2(g). The Group will revise the
depreciation charge where useful lives and residual
values are different from previous estimates, or will
write off or write down technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amount
of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
was approximately RMB800,681,000 (2014:
RMB872,877,000).

Amortisation of intangible assets

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in note 2(h).
The determination of the useful lives involves
management’s estimation. The Group re-assesses
the useful life of the intangible assets and, if the
expectation differs from the original estimate, such
a difference may impact the amortisation in the year
and the estimate will be changed in the future period.

4. BETHE R @)

(@) fEEFTREMHZRIR (&)

(iii)

(iv)

—E-RFFR PEABREERRLF
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

122

(@) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

v)

(vi)

Estimation of impairment of trade and other
receivables

The policy for recognising impairment on receivables
of the Group is based on an evaluation of the
collectibility and ageing analysis of accounts and
on management’s judgement. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, including
the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each debtor. If the financial conditions of
the Group’s debtors were to deteriorate, resulting
in an impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional impairment may be required.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

In considering the impairment losses that may
be required for the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and construction in progress, the
recoverable amount of the asset needs to be
determined. The recoverable amount is the greater
of the net selling price and the value in use. In
determining the value in use, expected cash flows
generated by the asset are discounted to their
present values, which require significant judgement
relating to items such as the level of sales volume,
selling price and amount of operating costs.
The Group uses all readily available information
in determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of the recoverable amount, including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of items such as sales
volume, selling prices and amount of operating
costs.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, an
impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
of approximately RMB92,086,000 (2014: nil) was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(@) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(vii)

(viii)

Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value is determined
on the basis of the estimated selling price less the
estimated cost of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale. Management
estimates the net realisable value for inventories
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and
current market conditions. As at 31 December
2015, the carrying amount of the Group’s inventories
was approximately RMB8,052,000 (2014:
RMB9,833,000).

Valuation of share options granted

The fair value of share options granted to employees
were calculated using the Binomial option pricing
model involving estimates including estimated life of
share options granted, future dividends and volatility
of share price.

4. BETHE R @)

(@) fEEFTREMHZRIR (&)

(vii)

(viii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

124

(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following critical accounting
judgements:

(i)

Renewal of gas business operating permits

The Group holds certain gas business operating
permits with licence period of 3 to 6 years at date
of issue which will be expired in year 2016 to 2018
and the renewal of which is subject to the approval
by the relevant PRC authorities. In the opinion of the
directors, taking into account legal opinion from the
Company’s PRC legal counsel, there are no legal
impediments for the Group to renew its gas business
operating permits upon expiry.

If the Group were unable to renew these permits
upon expiry, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMB800,681,000 (2014: RMB872,877,000) might
be significantly reduced, and the Group might
increase depreciation charges of those assets where
their useful lives are less than previously estimated,
or it might write off or write down the carrying
amount of those assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

(i)

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves
judgement on the future tax treatment of certain
transactions. The Group carefully evaluates tax
implications of transactions and tax provisions
are set-up accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account changes in tax legislations. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies.

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

5. REVENUE 5. W=
Revenue represents the sales value of goods supplied and WatsmEFPREER KRG 2 HER
services provided to customers, net of value-added and B T IERNE R LR A R T
business taxes and trade discounts. The amount of each o FARKGER 2 SBEAKEE
significant category of revenue recognised in revenue during the AlEeFEMT

year is as follows:

2015 2014
—B-hHF —T-HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBTT
Sales of liquefied coalbed gas BILEERIEE 268,601 218,908
Provision of liquefied coalbed RHRILEE RV ARTS
gas logistics services 3,206 54
Sales of piped natural gas BEERARHEE
(including provision of gas (PEREERERRS)
supply connection services) 57,313 82,157
329,120 301,119
6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. HMWARWKES
2015 2014
—E-HF —ZT—mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETTT

Interest income from RITERZFEHA
bank deposits 137 56
Net foreign exchange gain SN 5 FRE 131 —
Reversal of impairment loss on JFEE L AR SR 2 L At R L K TE
trade and other receivables ZR(EE B R E - 209
Other income A 196 238
464 503
~
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 7. BRBAIEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: BRI RIEIBE R AT &I
2015 2014
—E-RF —E—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTTT

(@) Staff costs (including (@ BEIRAK

directors’ and chief (BIEMEFEIFH

executive’s emoluments EERBEITHAER

in note 9) <)
Salaries and other benefits e kAEMETR 24,635 23,091
Retirement benefit schemes RIREAET B

contributions 3,796 3,221
Total staff costs * BB TAA 28,431 26,312

|
Amount excluded staff costs capitalised in construction in progress * SRETEERTEIRANMEZE IR
of approximately RMB255,000 (2014: RMB217,000). RH AR ¥ 255,000 (ZF —MMF :
AR#217,0007T) °
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128

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) BREIRTE 1B ()
2015 2014
—B-HF —E-HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
(b) Otheritems (b) HfuEHE
Cost of inventories FEZ KA
(Note 23(b)) (FF5E 23(b)) 205,950 158,312
Auditors’ remuneration R GIE=R
— audit services — AR 1,609 1,431
— non-audit services — IR BPRTS - 230
Depreciation of property, LE = YN
plant and equipment e 74,582 55,482
Amortisation of prepaid KEMRE) TR i
lease payments for land e EE
under operating leases 591 810
Amortisation of intangible m AR
assets (included in cost (BT ASHERK )
of sales) 7,276 29,625
Impairment of trade and JRE L B Sk % LAt FE U
other receivables I RE
(included in other (BT AHAbAL &
operating expenses) M) 2,391 340
Net foreign exchange loss HNE B HRF R - 534
Compensation fee on IR EEE A
preliminary exploration (GTAE g
(included in other %)
operating expenses) — 30,000
Loss on disposal of HEME - #aE Rk
property, plant and Bl ld -t
equipment (included in (BT AH AL &
other operating expenses) Fx) 266 864
Operating lease charges THIREFZ
in respect of land LETHL) B R
and buildings 685 551
|
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 7. BR®IAIEE (@)
2015 2014
—E-0F —T—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT
(c) Finance costs (c) ®ERAK
Interest expenses on bank ARAFREEH
and other borrowings BEZRITREM
wholly repayable BRZHERX
within five years 5,842 10,143
Other finance costs Ethgh & AR 980 152
Effective interest on MR ES 2 BRFE
convertible bonds 77 —
Finance charges on BERANEAEZ
obligations under finance BEEMA
leases 7,425 5,762
Total interest expense on WL A FETA
financial liabilities BaRz o
not at fair value through BEZMERX
profit or loss FEEE] 14,324 16,057
|
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8. MEBBERAZFEBH
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss @ 4“EBEEXANIBIERE :
represents:
2015 2014
—Z-HF —ZE-HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Current tax — PRC BIHABiE — PRI
Enterprise P8 ([EmEH )
Income Tax (“EIT”)
Provision for the year REGRAAE 2,310 747
Under-provision in respect @A FEBEHTE
of prior years — 540
2,310 1,287
Deferred tax EEBIE
Origination and reversal of ~ ERFEREEA- K
temporary differences tEEl (36,601) (39,611)
Income tax credit FTSBiE % (34,291) (38,324)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and continued in Bermuda as an exempted company
under the laws of Bermuda and, accordingly, is exempted
from payment of the Bermuda income tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31
December 2015 (2014: 16.5%). No provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group has no
estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2014.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8. MEBBRRAZAEBH @
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss @) #REBEmKRANIBIERE: (8)
represents: (Continued)
Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the NGB A B B9 B IR TR AR
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant KBTI E TR -
countries.
Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and BREBBEEMREHATBER
Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate (TEMEBED REEMRB
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 BOEBMIESN - FEMERT B
onwards. TEENF-A—HBZHEAR
25% °
(b) Reconciliation between income tax credit and accounting b)) REAMXFEZAEHELHE
loss at applicable tax rates: SETEIBZEHERNT
2015 2014
—E-—REF —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETF T
Loss before taxation BR# A &S 18 (289,317) (380,640)
Notional tax on loss before  IZARRARI S A AKE
taxation, calculated at EEAKERTE 2
the rates applicable to BRI E R ERIE
the tax jurisdictions
concerned (70,007) (89,197)
Tax effect of non-deductible  “RAJHUE B 2 i &
expenses 28,154 38,545
Tax effect of non-taxable BAGHRBAZ B2
income (12) (1
Tax effect of tax losses NALDEB R TIREE 2
not allowed for tax B2
deduction 7,092 14,367
Tax effect of tax losses RERGIEBEZ
not recognised ek 2,772 649
PRC withholding tax P RE (994) 2,651
Utilisation of tax losses BRLRIARER  BIAEE
previously not recognised (1,296) (5,878)
Under-provision in respect B FEEFHR T
of prior years - 540
Income tax credit FriSBiE & (34,291) (38,324)
|
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8.

132

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(©)

8.

GmEBRERAZAEBH @)

Pursuant to the EIT Law in the PRC, from 1 January 2008, € WRBERBRTCEMSHRE A
non-resident enterprises without an establishment or place ZNFE—A—B#  EFERA
of business in the PRC or which have an establishment or RNER MRS R B - SE
place of business in the PRC but whose relevant income is TP B3R N SR S A ok i SE B
not effectively connected with the establishment or a place B ES 2 YA B2 E A A B3R D B
of business in the PRC, will be subject to withholding MBS MR A TR
tax at the rate of 10% (unless reduced by tax treaty) on ZIHERDHE  BEARZEHRT
various types of passive income such as dividends derived WA (RRABBIRA 2R E) &
from sources within the PRC. 10% B (BRIERTR W IR E R 2 )
BanTEIRL o
Pursuant to the Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax Arrangement BEFEEEEMTEHERBEER
and the related regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax E o MEBENERRPBENLE
resident will be liable for a reduced withholding tax rate WIE=EAAl UWHEFZF
of 5% on dividends from a PRC enterprise if the Hong EB% N A LR AERD &8
Kong tax resident is the “beneficial owner” and holds 25% BEBHVEREPBE RN
or more of the equity interest of the PRC enterprise. A K% BRI =B LR TEE
withholding tax rate of 5% is applicable to entities held by E5% o MIEE B ML 2 K
a qualified Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary. BRAARACEBZENEERA
5% o
Income tax recognised directly in equity () BHENEDERZFEH
2015 2014
—E-EHF —Z—UF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREETTT
Deferred tax ERERIE
Initial recognition on issue REITR IR E SR IR TR
of convertible bonds 1,892 —
Total income tax recognised B E IR 2 TSI AATE
directly in equity 1,892 —
|
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERERITHRAEME

EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six (2014: ENHENAE (ZE—0F : £8)

seven) directors and the chief executive were as follows:

EENBESITRABZHMEWT

-

Equity-
Salaries, Retirement settled
allowances benefit share-based
and benefits Discretionary scheme payment 2015
Fees in kind bonuses contributions ~ Sub-total  expenses Total
HRRERE
A 49 BIRER DRHAER —T-IF
we  EWER  BERA GEMEX Mt 2AREX @zt
RMB’'000  RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETR ARMTR ARBTR AR%TR AR%TR ARMTR ARETR
Executive directors ~ H{TES
Wang Zhong Sheng TEE - 1,048 - 17 1,065 - 1,065
Shi Liang (Note (i) Hese (BEE() - 15 - 5 20 - 20
Fu Shou Gang el - 276 - - 276 - 276
Independent BUEHITES
non-executive
directors
Wang Zhi He R4l 87 - - - 87 - 87
Luo Wei Kun Bl E 40 - - - 40 - 40
Pang Yuk Fong vE5 40 - - - 40 - 40
167 1,339 - 22 1,528 - 1,528
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9.

134

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Salaries,
allowances
and benefits  Discretionary
Fees in kind bonuses
1)

#s  BEWR  BBREL
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT  ARBTRT ARETR

9. EERERETHAEMSE @)

Equity-
Retirement settled
benefit share-based
scheme payment 2014
contributions Sub-total exXpenses Total
RS
SRR DRHAEE —T-IF
HELES NG ZHREX @t

RMBOO0 ~ RMBOO0  RMB000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT AKETT ARETR

Executive directors ~ HTE=Z

Wang Zhong Sheng TAE - 1,036 — 17 1,053 = 1,053
Shi Liang ik - 115 - 12 127 - 127
Fu Shou Gang el = 275 = = 275 = 275
Non-executive director F#{TES
Kwok Shun Tim (Note (i) 38215 (Fif3E (i) - - - - - - -
Independent BiEQTES

non-executive

directors
Wang Zhi He FzM 86 - - - 86 - 86
Luo Wei Kun Blks 40 - - - 40 - 40
Pang Yuk Fong YER 40 - - - 40 - 40

166 1,426 — 29 1,621 — 1,621

Notes: 5T -
0] Retired on 26 May 2015. () REZZE—RAFRAAZFTRARME-
(i)  Mr. Kwok Shun Tim was appointed as executive director of the iy BAFEEER_ZT—=F—AZAEZE

Company on 2 January 2013. During the year ended 31 December
2014, Mr. Kwok Shun Tim has been re-designated from an executive
director to a non-executive director of the Company with effect from
15 April 2014 and was subsequently resigned on 22 July 2014.

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, since
the appointment of the chief executive officer of the Company
remains outstanding, no emoluments were paid to the chief
executive officer of the Company.

Neither the chief executive officer nor any of the directors
waived any emoluments in the year ended 31 December 2015
and 2014. No inducement payments to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office were paid or
payable to any director or the chief executive officer for the
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.
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10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST

11.

EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
two (2014: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed
in note 9. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
other three (2014: three) individuals are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

10. REHF AL

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

AEERAZERSFALF ML (ZF
—F MR REF REZMER

MFEOMEE - Ah=% (ZT -5 :
=%) ALtzBieemEam T

2015 2014
—E-EHF —Z—UF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREETTT
Salaries and other emoluments e REMER 741 722
Retirement benefit schemes RIREFIFT MK
contributions 29 37
Equity-settled share-based AR E ARG RERR 2
payment expenses R - —
770 759
The emoluments of the three (2014: three) individuals with the _% (ZE—OF: =F%) ZaF AL
highest emoluments are within the following bands: SNFLUATEE -
2015 2014
—E—RfF —PU4F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AE
HK$NIl to HK$ 1,000,000 T ITE 1,000,000 7T 3 3
LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 11. XARIEERREGEE
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The consolidated loss attributable to equity shareholders of the HE-_ZT-—HF+ZA=+—HLF

Company for the year ended 31 December 2015 includes a
loss of approximately RMB10,333,000 (2014: RMB68,655,000)
which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company.

€ ARmESEBIREIEGREBIEERE

ERERRARHMBRREIE Y BEOAR
#10,333,000 7T (—E—PU4F - ARK
68,655,000 7T) °
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12.

13.

136

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been proposed or declared by the directors for
the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The basic and diluted loss per share is RMB20.49 cents per
share (2014: RMB27.35 cents per share). The calculation
of the basis loss per share for the year ended 31 December
2015 is based on the loss attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company of approximately RMB235,943,000 and
the weighted average number of shares of approximately
1,151,722,000 in issued during the year ended 31 December
2015. The calculation for diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2015 is based on the loss attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company of approximately
RMB235,943,000 and the denominator used are the same as
for the basic loss per share. Diluted loss per share attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company for the years ended 31
December 2015 and 2014 is the same as the basic loss per
share as the effect of potential ordinary shares from the exercise
and conversion of share options and convertible bonds are anti-
dilutive.
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14. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker
(the “CODM?”), being the Company’s board of directors, for the
purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment.
The CODM reviews the Group’s internal reporting, assesses
the performance and allocates the resources of the Group
as a whole, as all of the Group’s activities are considered to
be primarily dependent on the performance of exploitation,
liquefaction production and sale of natural gas in the PRC.
Therefore, the CODM considers there is only one operating
segment under the requirements of HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments. In this regard, no segment information is presented.

Additional disclosure in relation to segment information is
not presented as the CODM assess the performance of the
sole operating segment identified based on the consistent
information as disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements.

The total segment result is equivalent to total comprehensive
expense for the year as shown in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the total
segment assets and total segment liabilities are equivalent to
total assets and total liabilities as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

(@) Geographical information

The Group principally operates in Hong Kong and the
PRC.

“E-LFFHR PEEER

7 EB2 ]
AR BN EE D EITYIRIEA B LB R
BA (HEREGERRAL DAARE

£g) RERDERRRFET 2 A
BRMETE - ERAKENEEEH
BREBERENETEFRR - BRILEE
MHERARNRIR - BEEERRA
EER E RN AEENAE2E - &F
EAEBNRBELRDEAEEER °
It BEEERRADBR/RBEEENTE
BELFSH/EENBHNRTE - A%

BEE—AKEDE - LM E - WK
2D EER

R B R EERRARBEREMHRE
RREN S — BRI MR BRI R ME—
REDE KRB - P EZ5IBERED
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14. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 14. P2, (&)
(@ Geographical information(Continued) @ HEER &)
The Group’s turnover from external customers and AEEZMEGE S D HIRE S
information about its non-current assets by geographical HEFPHEXBERIERBEEN
locations are detailed below: BERFAT ¢
Turnover from
external customers Non-current assets*
REMPEENEEE FRBEE"
) )
2015 2014 2015 2014

ZE-FF | ENF | ZB-HF | _T@F
RMB’000 | RMB'000 | RMB’000 | RMB'000
ARETRT | ARETT | ARETR | ARETR

Hong Kong B - - 1,175 1,485
PRC h 329,120 301,119 861,973 1,112,107

329,120 301,119 863,148 | 1,113,592

| S ——
* Non-current assets excluding deferred tax assets. * ERBEETRIEREREAE -
(b Information about major customers by ETEEFHEHR
Turnover from customers of corresponding years contributing HEFEERZ EEBRIBAE
over 10% of total revenue of the Group is as follows: EBRE10%EFPINT
2015 2014
S -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Customer A ZEA N/ATE A 54,019
Customer B =FB 52,005 30,166
Customer C EFC 65,322 39,619
Customer D =FD 35,825 N/ATNE A
153,152 123,804
| —
1 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the 1 B BA 2 M FE W 2 I R B iR AN &
total turnover of the Group. ML FETAR10% ©
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15. GOODWILL 15. B8
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Cost: B
At 1 January 2014 RZE—NFE—A—HK
and 31 December 2014 —E-NFE+-A=+—H 344,100
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) U EEFT B AR (BIsE35) 3,551
At 31 December 2015 R—Z2—AF+=-_A=+—H 347,651
Accumulated impairment losses: ZiHEEEE -
At 1 January 2014 R-_ZE—NF—HA—H 239,802
Impairment loss BIEFE 104,298
At 31 December 2014 RZZE—NF+—A=+—HK
and 1 January 2015 —ZE—hF—H—H 344,100
Impairment loss SREETE 3,551
At 31 December 2015 R—ZE—AF+=-_A=+—H 347,651

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2015

iR

T

At 31 December 2014

iR
R-—TBE—HE+=-A=+—H _
=S

2-mE+-A=+—8 -

16. IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL, 16. & - EFEEURYE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND PROPERTY, MR R A ZBEAR
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group’s coalbed methane exploration and development, AEEZREERBERLFAE « KAREK
natural gas liquefaction and LNG distribution operation is still {ERBIERAR D HEB N ERPIL
under development and far behind the development schedule, BERBNERE - EARAEERE
the forecasted number of gas wells over the forecast period AR D R FR 2 RAREB Tk o
was reduced and selling price of the natural gas was dropped HE-_ZT—hAF+-A=+—HLF
during the year. During the year ended 31 December 2015, B ZE2CREAHEEE  BEE
the directors have reviewed goodwill, intangible assets and EARYIZE - MR RREETERE

property, plant and equipment for impairment testing purpose.

—E-RFFR PEABREERRLF 139



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 2t — &

16.

140

—mE+= A=+ — AR

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL,
INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continueq)

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to
the following CGU:

16. B8 -

EEEEURYE -
HEE RSB 2 RERR @)

EES FATIREEESMAETR
BRI

2015 2014
—E-0F —E-mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Coalbed methane exploration HERMERNAE - RARRKRE R
and development, natural gas BIE KRR H
liguefaction and LNG distribution 3,551 —

The basis of the recoverable amounts of the above CGUs and
their major underlying assumptions are summarised below:

Coalbed methane exploration and development,
natural gas liquefaction and LNG distribution

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on
value in use calculations with reference to an independent
professional valuation. The key assumptions for the value in use
calculations are those regarding the discount rate and growth
in revenue and direct costs during the year. Management
estimates the discount rate of 21% (2014: 21%) using pre-tax
rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the CGU. Changes in selling
prices and direct costs are based on past experience and
expectations of changes in the market.

The value in use calculations are derived from cash flow
projections based on the most recent financial budgets for the
next 5 years approved by management. Cash flows beyond the
5-year period have been extrapolated using a steady growth
rate of 3% (2014: 3%) per annum which is based on industry
growth forecasts.
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16. IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL,

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continueq)

Coalbed methane exploration and development,

natural gas liquefaction and LNG distribution
(Continued)

Based on value in use calculation at 31 December 2015, the
recoverable amount of this CGU was found to be less than its
carrying amount. Accordingly, impairment losses on goodwill,
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment allocated
to this CGU of approximately RMB3,551,000, RMB97,864,000,
RMB92,086,000 (2014: RMB104,298,000, RMB138,702,000
and RMB nil) respectively have been recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2015.

Piped natural gas located in Guangxi

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on
value in use calculations with reference to an independent
professional valuation. The key assumptions for the value in use
calculations are those regarding the discount rate and growth
in revenue and direct costs during the year. Management
estimates the discount rate of 29% (2014: 22%) using pre-tax
rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the CGU. Change in selling
prices and direct costs are based on past experience and
expectations of changes in the market.

The value in use calculations are derived from cash flow
projections based on the most recent financial budgets for the
next 5 years approved by management. Cash flows beyond the
5-year period have been extrapolated using zero growth rate.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, based on value in
use calculations at 31 December 2015, the recoverable amount
of this CGU was found to be less than its carrying amount.
Accordingly, the impairment loss on intangible assets of
approximately RMB36,521,000 (2014: nil) has been recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2015 (Note 19).

16. BE  BEEEURYE -

s RSB 2RERR 2

RERBRKRME - RARRIL
RBALRARRDH (&)

%WE:;—ﬁEnL*HZnL—EL
ZEREBEMNE  BEABRSES
aﬁZ‘M&z@é%ﬁﬁmﬁ,ﬁEﬁ@ &
b PEEARCELSE uZFﬁé‘i
BRUEBENRDE  HERZRERE
EED AR S,551,000T * AR
# 97,864,000 7T & A K # 92,086,000
T (ZZE—MF : AR¥ 104,298,000
JL - AR#138,702,000 TR ARKEE
L) BEREBE-ZE—RF+-A=1+—
AIEFE A ERERAER -

UREBENEEXRAR

$ﬁ%#$ SN2 A El T2 ESR

EXHERBERAEBEFTEEE -
%F@ﬁ I EERBIEEHAFE L
BRIRE - WRIERREEN A 2 BRE -
ERE MG BIRE B 29% (ZF—
F:22%)  IHERREE B EBRHE
BEs MG RREEEBMZFE

BB 2 BREAI ARG E - SEEREEK
K7 ZE) TR &8 K5 TE A& )
BEAE o

EREEAENREREEEEIEL
R ARE FHEREMERZRER
B0 - BEsFHR R REER
TRERSELES -

REBEE-_T—RAF+-_A=+—HLF
B RBRE-ZZ—RAF+-A=1+—H2
FREBNE  HReEABM 2K
EEBEENEREE - At - BEEE
ZREEELH AR 36,521,0007T (=
T—E: #) gRBEE-_T—1F
T RA=T—HIEFEZHFEBEEERA
R (fIzE19) ©
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

142

17. Y% - BEBERRE

Transportation
Buildings Furniture and
held for  Leasehold Plantand  Computer and motor Construction
own use improvements  Pipelines  machinery  equipment  equipment vehicles in progress Total
BEBR EQIH
BT HERBIE EE HEREE EERE GERERE kRE  RBIR &3t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AE®Tn  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARMTn ARETR ARETR
Cost FE
At 1 January 2014 RZF-ME-F-A 131,640 636 162,724 476,769 29 2,121 36,640 85,824 897,253
Additions HE 749 - - 10,460 6 88 2132 133,265 146,700
Transfer from fbERTiRE
construction in
progress - - - 101,371 - - - (101,3M1) -
Disposals & - - - (724) - (374) (3643 - (474)
Bxchange adjustments [ 8% - - - - - (1) - 1
At31 December 2014  WZE-RE+-F=1-H

and 1 January 2015 R=F-1%-A-H 132,389 638 162,724 587,876 299 2,441 3,128 H7,718 1,089,213
Acquistion of subsidiaries  WEEHBAE (fH335)

(Note 35) 33910 - - 4817 - 56 H"r 666 39,566
Additions AE - - - 2,569 17 151 2,618 62,754 68,100
Transfer fom construction K2 TREH

in progress 5,547 - 6,004 24,218 - - - (36,369 -
Disposals e (15,104 - - - - - (1,551 - (16,655
Bxchange adustments B H% - 37 - - 2 6 8 - 133
At31December 2015 AZE-RETZA=T-H 156,742 675 169,328 619,480 318 2,604 36,400 144769 1,130,366
Accumulated ZHERAE

depreciation

and impairment
At 1 January 2014 RZF-MF-A-R 18,571 49 9,849 66,071 181 1,789 17,359 - 114,312
Charge for the year REER 6,446 144 6,033 37,18 49 352 5212 - 55,482
Wiitten back on disposals &R - - - (403) - (256) (2.801) - (3,460)
Bxchange adustiments 8% - 2 - - - - - - 2
At31 Decemoer 2014 RNZF-METZA=1-R

and 1 January 2015 R=5-1%-F-A 25,017 638 15,882 102,854 230 1,88 19,830 - 166,336
Charge for the year FEEYH 5,956 24 8,293 55,568 39 252 4,450 - 74,582
Impairment loss HEFE 54,772 - 5779 23554 - - 687 7204 92,086
Written back on disposals  HEBE (2,034 - - - - - (1373) - (3.407)
Exchange adjustments ~ ER 3% - 13 - - 2 6 67 - 88
A31December 2015 MZE-RETZA=T-H 83711 675 2994 181976 27 2,143 23,661 7.4 329,685
Carrying amount FAEE
At31December2015 R-E-ZE+-A=t-H 73,031 - 139,374 437,504 4 511 12,739 137,475 800,681
A3t December 2014 AZE-BEFZA=T-H 107372 - 146,842 485,022 69 556 15,298 H"7,718 872,877
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i

The buildings held for own use are situated on land held under
medium-term leases in the PRC.

The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

At 31 December 2015, the carrying amounts of the Group’s pipelines
pledged for the Group’s bank borrowings were RMB nil (2014:
approximately RMB24,813,000).

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s building held for own use
and plant and machinery with carrying amount of approximately
RMB60,447,000 (before impairment) (2014: RMB64,500,000) and
RMB87,222,000 (before impairment) (2014: RMB97,700,000)
respectively were pledged.

The carrying amount of the Group’s assets held under finance
leases at 31 December 2015 of approximately RMB87,222,000
(before impairment) was included in plant and machinery (2014:
approximately RMB97,700,000).

17. Y13 - B REE 2

(i)

(i

—E-RFFR PEABREERRLF

FEB B 2B TR T BR T B
Bzt ko

AEEZEEMNTE -

R-ZE—RF+-A=+—8" ' AFx&E
ERITERMERZANEEEEZRR
BEAAREET (ZT—NF : HAR
# 24,813,000 7T) °

R-ZE—HFE+-A=+—8 K&£H
FEB A ZEF A RS R 2 IR E
B RIHAREEB60,447,0007T CRERT)
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18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS FOR LAND
UNDER OPERATING LEASES

The carrying amount of the Group’s prepaid lease payments for
land under operating leases is analysed as follows:

18.

REMYTRSLHES

AREBKERAT AN L HHES ZRE
EDMTT :

2015 2014

—B-AF —ZE-HF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETT

Carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—BZEREE 33,499 34,309
Acquisition of subsidiaries WK B AR (FizE35)

(Note 35) 11,390 -
Amortisation for the year RNEGHIE (591) (810)
Disposals e (7,498) —
Carrying amount at 31 December W+ A=+—HZKHAEE 36,800 33,499
Less: Current portion A - BNERER (D (863) (810)
Non-current portion FEBNERER 1D 35,937 32,689

The prepaid lease payments in respect of land under operating
leases are held under medium-term leases and situated in the
PRC.

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s prepaid lease payments
for land under operating leases with a carrying amount of
approximately RMB17,609,000 (2014: RMB19,774,000) were
pledged.

The amortisation charges for the year ended 31 December
2015 of approximately RMB154,000 (2014: RMB154,000) and
RMB437,000 (2014: RMB656,000) are included in cost of sales
and administrative expenses respectively in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. BEEE

Operating
Exclusive license for
right for liquefied
piped natural coalbed gas
gas operation logistics Total
EERARER BILRER
ZBRER WREEHR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBT R ARET T
Cost B
At 1 January 2014, RZZ-—ME—[—8 "
31 December 2014 and 2015 E-MERZE-0F
+=-RA=1—H 334,811 97,300 432,111
Accumulated amortisation EHE )
and impairment
At 1 January 2014 RZE-NF—A—H 54,824 67,299 122,123
Impairment loss (Note 16) REEE (FFE16) 132,683 6,019 138,702
Amortisation for the year AEFHE 10,165 19,460 29,625
At 31 December 2014 RZZE-MF+-A=+—H
and 1 January 2015 k—E—-h%—H—H 197,672 92,778 290,450
Impairment loss (Note 16) REEE (FFE16) 132,238 2,147 134,385
Amortisation for the year AEFHE 4,901 2,375 7,276
At 31 December 2015 RZZE-RF+t-A=t—H 334,811 97,300 432,111
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2015 R-Z-5F+=A=1+—-H - - -
At 31 December 2014 RZE-MF+-A=1+—H 137,139 4,522 141,661
“E-AFFHR FEEBREEERLQE 145



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

146

(a)

(b)

(o)

Exclusive right for piped natural gas
operation in Beiliu City

It represented the exclusive right to operate in gas pipeline
infrastructure and provision of piped natural gas in Beiliu
City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC and
is amortised as cost of sales on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of 45 years.

Exclusive right for piped natural gas
operation in Ruyang County

It represented the exclusive right to operate in gas pipeline
infrastructure and provision of piped natural gas in Ruyang
County, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC and is
amortised as cost of sales on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of approximately 28.5 years.

Operating license for liquefied coalbed gas
logistics

It represented the operating license for liquefied coalbed
gas logistics in the PRC and is amortised as cost of sales
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 5
years.
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19. BEEE &)

(a)

(b)

(c)

EERTEEEERARE
Bz BRER

ZAENEET B EEAL R BRI
b 7 T AR A RV B A R AR A AT
RUEBRARZBRERN - X
HEGEERG AR 245
FRIERIHERAE -

EAGHEEEBERARE
Bz ERER

A RENFEE T BUA R A B R TR
BREEMREBEAMRREME
HEBRARZBRERN @ Wi
EREERGFAERFHY
28.5 FRERIHEAHH o

RICE BRI AR EEHR

ZHREAERELERIERER
MR EENR  WIHEREE
BT R E A FHI5 F NIE R
ERRANEE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

20. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

20. R RENFIER

2015 2014
—B-HF —ZE-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT
Warranty money paid MEERELHIET
for the acquisition of RS 2
equipment under finance RES (M)
lease arrangements (note (i) 14,700 18,263
Other deposits Ui b iR 2
for acquisition of HibzT& (B5E (i)
interests in land (note (i) 10,462 10,462
Prepayments (note (i) TEfTRIE (B i) 1,368 37,640
26,530 66,365
| —
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

20. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

148

Notes:

CH

On 21 May 2012, L #/KIEZR 88 IR 3 & B IR A &) (transliterated
as Shanxi Qinshui Shuntai Energy Development Company Limited)
(“Shanxi Qinshui”), a subsidiary of the Company, as lessee, entered
into a conditional finance lease agreement in relation to the sale
and lease of equipments with &R ETHEHR A A] (transliterated
as CIMC Capital Ltd. (“CIMC")), pursuant to which, (i) Shanxi
Qinshui conditionally agreed to sell, and CIMC conditionally agreed
to purchase certain liquefied natural gas equipments for a total
consideration of RMB95,000,000; and (i) Shanxi Qinshui conditionally
agreed to lease from CIMC, and CIMC conditionally agreed to lease
to Shanxi Qinshui, the said equipments for a total lease consideration
of RMB114,570,000 for a term of 36 months by monthly installments
inclusive of interest with a lump sum handling fee in the sum of
RMB950,000. The lease consideration may be adjusted according
to the floating lending interest rate to be promulgated by PBOC
from time to time. Shanxi Qinshui agreed to provide a total sum
of approximately RMB14,250,000 to CIMC as warranty money,
which is repayable at the end of the lease period. This finance
lease arrangement constituted a major transaction on the part
of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules. The finance lease
arrangement was approved by the shareholders by way of ordinary
resolution at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on 27 May 2013.
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20.
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FERBLERHENERTERERE
e - Bt - () LEDKBIRERE L
ERPEEBRHEREBES TRIERA
BB LR E R AKRM95000,000
TL R@WEAENKEGRERERFSE
A - R EBEERE R WL DK
HHEREE BHEREAEARE
114,570,0007T * BEA36MEA (R A S
HER BEMNE) R—%$BFEE
AH AR 950,000 - HERBEAIR
BREARRITTEAGRZSEEF)
KEHAR o ILFDKEERPERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

20. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

M

(i)

(i

(Continued)

On 28 January 2015, Shanxi Qinshui entered into a conditional
finance lease agreement in relation to the sale and lease of
equipments with CIMC (“2015 Finance Lease Arrangement”),
pursuant to which, (i) Shanxi Qinshui conditionally agreed to sell
and CIMC conditionally agreed to purchase the certain liquefied
natural gas equipment (“Equipments”) for a total consideration
of RMB98,000,000; and (ii) Shanxi Qinshui conditionally agreed
to lease from CIMC, and CIMC conditionally agreed to lease to
Shanxi Qinshui, the Equipments for a total lease consideration of
approximately RMB114,836,000 for a term of 36 months by monthly
installments inclusive of interest, with a lump sum handling fee in
the sum of RMB980,000. The lease consideration may be adjusted
according to the floating lending interest rate to be promulgated
by PBC from time to time. Shanxi Qinshui shall pay an amount of
RMB14,700,000 as warranty money to CIMC. The 2015 Finance
Lease Arrangement constituted a major transaction on the part of
the Company under the GEM Listing Rules. The 2015 Finance Lease
Arrangement was approved by the shareholders by way of ordinary
resolution at the special general meeting of the Company held on 30
March 2015.

The balance represents deposits paid by the Group for the acquisition
of interests in land located in the PRC which will be held for own use
under operating leases.

Included in prepayments as at 31 December 2014 was an amount
of approximately RMB36,091,000 representing prepayment for
acquisition of equipment under a finance lease arrangement.

20. ST € RFENE

RIE ()

BieE : ()

(i)

(i)

—E-RFFR PEABREERRLF

(&)

RZZE—RF—A=+/\8 ' WK
HEERBERHERARERIT B IKM
MEMEHE ([T —AFRERE
WD - B () LENKE RERE
tb’iﬁﬁq:%ﬁw%ﬂ#ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ%F%ti

RREME ((RE]) BREA AR
98,000,0007E i i) m@i/wkﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁ
ERFREAR - MAREEHFEERERL
LK RE  ARERENAAR
#114,836,0007T * AHI36ME A (£ A
DEHER - BEMNE) SM—%£BF
BEA L AR 80,0007T - FERE
ARIEPEARIBITTEBHZEESE
ERREHEZ - WMWK ARPES
T AR 14,700,000 TTHE AIRES - 1B
BRIFEREMRA  —E—AFmEM
EMEERARAN—BEERS - &
RER-ZE—AHAF=ZA=1+HEITZAK
ARREAFRIAE® £ AT ERERALE

—REREHERE -

AR SE €= vaise E’Jiﬂﬁ
ZRREXNZAE R SRIEEE
HAFEER -

—OF+-A=+—BZENKA

BIEHARYE 36,091,000 THAETEE
ZHETWERE 2 TENFUR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

21. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

21. XRREBMBRR 2FHE

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at R-ZE—HF+-_A=+—8 ' &AQq
31 December 2015 are as follows: FEMBARZEFBLOT -
Proportion of
ownership interest
RELH
Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and paid-up share Group’s
establishment/ Iregistered effective
Name of subsidiary operations capital interest Direct Indirect  Principal activities
e/ BRAR
R,/ Btk iy 4|
HEARZR Teny iMEAGHE ERELR B BE  IEER
WEGS R RE R ARAR PRC Registered captal of 100% 100% — Investment holding
(iranslterated as i HK$85,000,000 RERR
Shanxi Yangcheng Shuntai e
Energy Development 85,000,000/%7
Company Limited)
(*Shanxi Yangcheng Shuntal’)
(notes (a) and (g))
(TERSER])
(Hiet (e Re)
Shanxi Qinshui PRC Registered capital of 100% 100% - Manufacture and sales
(notes (4) and (d) HE HK$240,000,000 of iquefied coalbed gas
WLk (B (8) R (o) FHE 7K 240,000,007 EERBERILEER
Sino Treasure Global British Virgin Islands 1 ordlnary share of 100% 100% - Investment holding
Group Limited (BVI) 1 United States dollar REER
ABRAEE (US§)
([%BREE)  1REE1ZET (L))
LR
Allied Rich Management Limited BVI 3,000 ordinary shares of 100% - 100%  Investment holding
BEERARLA ABRUES USS1 each REZR
3000 RERERTET
LERR
W EERREERAT PRC Registered captal of 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(iranslterated as e RMBS5,000,000 RARR
Shanxi Alled Rich iftEx
Senvices Limited) (note (2) ARE5,000,000 0
()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

21. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

21 ARBEEMB AR 2F1HE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continued)
Proportion of
ownership interest
iy 3471

Place of Particulars of issued

incorporation/ and paid-up share Group's

establishment/ Iregistered effective

Name of subsidiary operations capital interest Direct Indirect  Principal activities

e/ BRTR

RS/ BftkE/ A58

WEARER B AMEAGFE BN Ef B FEER

RELMRERAR PRC Registered capital of 97.5% - 975%  Sales of piped natural gas
(transliterated as HE RMB20,000,000 and provision of gas supply
Guangxi Bellu Gas AMER connection sevices
Company Limited) (note (o) AR 20,000,000 7C BEEEANRREML
(B (o) HRETRS

Hebei Shuntai (note (a)) PRC Registered capital of 100% 100% - Salesof liquefied coalbed gas

LB (Wit ) e RMB87,280,000 HERILEER

AR
AR 87,280,000

BTRARRAA B 100 ordinary shares 100% 100% — Investment holding
(iransiterated as RERAHE of US$1 each RERR
Milion Ideas 100REREE 1 ET
Investments Limited) LEER

WEESERREERAT PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(iransliterated as HE RMB500,000 REER
Shani Wanzhi Business AR
Senvices Limited) (note (2) ARE5000007
(M3 (@)

WEEENRERAR PRC Registered capital of 83% - 83%  Provision of liguefied coalbed
(transiterated as HE RMB60,000,000 gas logistics services
Shani Wanzhi ftExR RERIRERNRRS
Logistics Limited) AR%60,000,0007T
("Wanzhi Logistics”) (note (c))

(&) (M (o)

Wealthy Talent Global BVI 1 ordinary share of USS 1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Investments Limited AERNEE 1REBE1ET S8R REARR

Hong Kong Chung Wo Energy Hong Kong HKS1 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Investments Limited Bk 1871 REBR

BRTNERERRARRAA
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

21. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 2. ARATEMB LA 2FE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continued)
Proportion of
ownership interest
JRELL I

Place of Particulars of issued

incorporation/ and paid-up share Group’s

establishment/ Iregistered effective

Name of subsidiary operations capital interest Direct Indirect  Principal activities

i/ EBIR

Rt/ Hiks/ 15H

HEARER Beny AfERRE ENER B B IEER

REIEREFEERA (ranslterated  PRC Registered capital of 100% = 100%  Sales of natural gas
as Luoyang Shunhe Energy Company HK$60,000,000 AARHE
Limited) (‘Luoyang Shunhe’) note (o) AR
([&RRIBR ) (B ) 60,000,000 7T

BRgER e RERAR PRC Registered captal of 60% - 60%  Exploration, development
(transliterated as e RMB30,000,000 and production of
Yangeheng Huiyang New ifEAR coalbed methane
Energy Development AEE 30,000,000 F - REREERER
Company Limited)

(*Yangcheng Huiyang’) (note (o))
DGR

GREEREREEER A PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100%  Gas distrioution
(iranslterated as # RMB10,000,000 ARRAH
Yangcheng Shun An B2y
Gathering Pipeiine ARE10,000,0007C
Company Limited) (note (a))

(@)

HER B RERAT PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100%  Sales of iquefied coalbed gas
(iranslterated as hE RMB1,000,000 RFERSE
Xian County Lian Shun Ry
Energy Development ARE1,000,0007C
Company Limited) (note (a))

(R3t )

FE (B8 BHTIEMEERAT  PRO Registered capital of 100% - 100%  Manufacturing and sales of
(trangliterated as Nuoxin i RMBA4T 564,900 PE gas pipelines
(¥Xian County) Engineering Materials HFER LERBER BEREE
Company Limited) AR 47 5649000
(*Nuoxin Engineering’)

([5#E])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

21. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

Notes:

(@)

Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise.

Registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited liability enterprise.

Registered under the laws of the PRC as a Sino-foreign equity joint
venture.

The registered capital of Shanxi Qinshui was HK$300,000,000, of
which HK$240,000,000 (2014: HK$240,000,000) has been paid up
as at 31 December 2015.

The registered capital of Shanxi Yangcheng Shuntai was
HK$300,000,000, of which HK$85,000,000 (2014: HK$85,000,000)
has been paid up as at 31 December 2015.

The Group had no subsidiaries which have material non-
controlling interests for the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2014,

21. RRRIEEMBERR 2FH1E

(%)

EERRLAARFMBRARRERY
BAEEXELEEL EFRA 12
HEMHBRR ZFFERERREBN
Tk e

G

@ RETEEZEMAIEEEDRE -

() WREPEEZEMABEREFEDRE -

© BEREEZEMATIEGEDLE -

(d) Pk 2 FE & A A 300,000,000
7T+ H #240,000,000 7T (ZF—M
4 : 240,000,000 7T) ER T — 1
E+-A=+—BHff-

© WAaEABHIEZREZME XA
300,000,000% 7T + E 85,000,000
T (ZZ—PU4 : 85,000,000/87T) E
R-E—RE+-A=+—R&N -

REBREE T HFER-_ZT—NF
+ - A=t+—HIFETEHES A
R 2 B R E] ©

—E-RFFR PEABREERRLF 153
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 2. AT ESFAERZZEME
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS E
2015 2014
—E—a% —F—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEFAEBR SREE :
through profit or loss:
— Unlisted investment fund — BBEINELTIREES
outside Hong Kong 200 200
23. INVENTORIES 23. &
(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of (@ REEHMBRARAZEE
financial position comprise: BfE
2015 2014
—E-1F —E-lF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Raw materials EM R 5,477 5,192
Finished goods BURK i 2,575 4,641
8,052 9,833
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories (b) EEIAB/FXALTAERZ
recognised as an expense and included in FEEBEzoMWT
profit or loss is as follows:
2015 2014
—E—R%E —E—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
Cost of inventories sold BERE ZHA 205,950 158,312
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24, FEUWBRF R H At FEURK
2015 2014
—E-HF —=-mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Trade receivables JEUER TR 16,950 17,795
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts Ja @ RERE & (7,744) (5,353)
9,206 12,442
Amount due from a director JEWEEFIR

(Note 40(b)(ii)) (Bff 5 40(b)i)) - 3,536
Bills receivables i ESS 745 —
Deposits and other receivables HE> &Eﬁﬂf EWFRIA 17,784 14,781
Amounts due from FEUS & A RIFRIE

related companies (MF5E 40(0 )())

(Note 40(0)() 7,261 11,005
Loans and receivables B WK 34,996 41,854
Advances to suppliers ML fE Fﬁ*’“m 4,081 2,848
Prepayment relating to HERRAX AR

construction expenses TEfFRIA 42,828 44,978
Other prepayments HM B IR 25,715 18,616
Other taxes recoverable H At AT Y Bl 3518 4,152 4,474

111,772 112,770

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be

recovered or recognised as expenses within one year.

TERAFT A FE MR AR R S EL At FEUR IR A 10

_EWHQEJZEEM\%%EJSE
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(@) Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of the trade receivables, based on invoice date and net of
allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows:

24, EWERR R HMEWFIE (&)

(a)

MR o
FEM R (REZE BB RIKBR
RREE) RREHRZRE DT
m
2015 2014
—E-81F —T—UEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Within 1 month 1{EAR 5,500 11,133
More than 1 month 1{EAZEBIEAR
but less than 3 months 1,602 179
More than 3 months 3EAZBEEAN
but less than 6 months 995 -
More than 6 months 6MEARBEI2@EAR
but less than 12 months 587 —
More than 12 months 12E A& 522 1,130
9,206 12,442

The Group generally allows credit period of 30 to 180
days to its customers. The Group may, on a case by case
basis and after evaluation of the business relationship
and creditworthiness, extend the credit period upon the

customers’ requests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. BRI R HABFE W FRIE ()

(Continued)

FEE Wt B R B2 L At B W TR IR 2
B

FEM R R BB R 1R T R R B A
BRAC 8% - HE AR & B 15 A I = 5K
TR A BEMERRIBR IN - FEULIE R
™ RUE S 18 B 5 B R M RR B
8 (RHEE2(0) -

(b) Impairment of trade and other receivables (b)

Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors are recorded
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied
that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the
impairment loss is written off against trade debtors directly
(see note 2 ())).

FRRBERZ REBREBEZES

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts for

trade receivables during the year is as follows: wmr
2015 2014
—ZE-0F —E—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®TT
At 1 January n—H—H 5,353 5,562

Reversal of impairment B OB mRRERIE

loss recognised — (209)
Impairment loss recognised B MR REEE 2,391 —
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—8 7,744 5,353

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s trade receivables of
approximately RMB7,744,000 (2014: RMB5,353,000)
were individually determined to be impaired. The
individually impaired receivables related to customers that
were in financial difficulties and management assessed
that the receivables were not recoverable. Consequently,
specific allowance for doubtful debts were recognised.

—E-RFFR PEABREERRLF

R-—ZE—RAF+=-_A=+—8"
REBZRERKEZFRODAARKE
7,744,0007C (ZF—HF : AR
5 5,353,000 7T) JH1E R EE TE ARk
B - BERIRE 2 BRFRIEERA
MHR#ECRFER BEEEE
fhat B AR WEB R AT Y E -
It - BRERIRFERA BB -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(c)

24, EWERR R HMEWFIE (&)

(b) Impairment of trade and other receivables b) BUWHRRRHEMEVRRIEZ
(Continued) AR (%)
During the year ended 31 December 2014, impairment HE-_Z—MNF+-_A=+—H
loss on other receivables of the Group of approximately IHFE NEBEMERFIEZ
RMB340,000 was recognised in the consolidated REEE X A R 340,0007C 2
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December RBE_Z—NF+_A=+—
2014. The individually impaired other receivables of BItFEZHEEBERERAER -
the Group relate to other debtors that were in financial & [ E BB E 2 H e W SRIR
difficulties and is not expected to be recoverable. B AR 2 HMmEEAB
W TR BSRIE N A IR E o
The Group do not hold any collateral or other credit ANER B A B 52 S H M R GRIR
enhancement over their other receivable balances. EHRFEAMERREMEE
WHETA -
Trade receivables that are not impaired (©) RBERYERN
The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither R AR B Bl N 2 R E A FE UL
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are R ZERRDITIOT -
as follows:
2015 2014
—B-hHF —T-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%BT R AREET T
Neither past due nor impaired K88 K KR {E 8,097 11,312
Less than 1 month past due #HI 71 @ A 476 -
1 to 3 months past due wmHA1 2= 3@A - —
Over 3 months past due B HAFR A 3 E A 633 1,130
1,109 1,130
9,206 12,442
|
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(c) Trade receivables that are not impaired
(Continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, management
believed that no impairment allowance was necessary in
respect of this balance as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable. The Group did not hold any
collateral over these balances.

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

24, EWERR KR HMEWFIE (&)

© REBEEWERR &)

RIEER Ko AR B H) MR IR Ko
REEP  RERPROVER
REg#k

£ 181 (B = ARORU(E 2 e Y kIR B
RAKEREA R FERRCIERZE
YEFAR BREBSELR &
BEEMEERREEERLEEAN
28 AARERDEESTE
gl o - EBERBRAESRIEL
AR - NEBEWEZFE
BIF A AR

25. BRERREEEY

2015 2014
—E-1F —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®TT
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRESEEY
— Cash at bank and in hand — RITRFEER S 45,437 43,930

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to approximately RMB33,565,000 (2014: RMB22,172,000).
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

—E-AFFR PEABREEERLD

RIRTT 2R ERIBIRITE B 7R XIZ
SFEIMRERIAN R - SRITERTFRINME
BRI R A B R AR ERHIRTT ©

REREER - AEBUARETHENE
® MR e EFEMA R ARKESS,565,000
T(ZZE—MF : AR%22,172,000
L) e ARETAIERAEBKEME
B BARIE R B 2 HMNE B R G RN 4
[« SERMNESERTE  AEEEE
FBIREREETINEREB ZRITIEAR
BB B o

159

|



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

26. EABRR R EEAFRIE

2015 2014
—B-HF —E-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREET T
Trade payables FEfTBRIR 130,059 82,616
Amounts due to directors R EERIR
(Note 40(b)(iii)) (B 3T 40(b)(iii)) 14,628 974
Amounts due to non-controling ~ FERTHIE A T2
shareholders of subsidiaries AR AR R BRIB
(Note 40(0)iii) (B35 40(0)ii) 7,497 8,087
Accrued expenses FEETR &
and other payables H b T RIE 33,838 47,718
Payables for acquisition of property, Hi&#I5 - #28 &
plant and equipment BB A 157,642 221,210
Financial liabilities measured at R ATTEZ
amortised cost TRBE 343,664 361,505
Deposits received from customers A& FPWEET & 16,937 14,980
Other taxes payables H A fESBITE 4,153 3,578
364,754 380,063
|

160 CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED  Annual Report 2015
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 26. BEATARFA R HABFETFRIE (%)

27.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the RIERR - BRIRR GREZEHE)
trade payables, based on invoice date, is as follows: RO :
2015 2014
—E-0F —T—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Within 1 month 11E AR 4,002 13,362
More than 1 month 1EA%ZE3EAR
but less than 3 months 244 17,260
More than 3 months 3MEA%EGEANRN
but less than 6 months 59,291 9,578
More than 6 months 6{EHZE12EAN
but less than 12 months 65,985 21,380
More than 12 months 1218 A& 537 21,036
130,059 82,616
The trade and other payables are expected to be settled or JE AT BR R R LAt A< SR TR HAAS 7Y —
recognised as income within one year or are repayable on FREEBHEREWA S BIZENKE
demand. B o
BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 27. SRITREMER
As at 31 December 2015, the bank and other loans were R-ZE—RF+-_A=+—08 EEEZ
repayable as follows: FERIT R EMERAT ¢
2015 2014
—ZE-0F —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Secured bank loans HEMIRITER - 33,000
Unsecured other loans IR EMER 43,080 54,500
43,080 87,500
Analysed as: DHTEAT
Amount due within 1 year mEAET —FREH
shown under 2 5K
current liabilities 43,080 87,500
-
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)

162

Notes:

(@)

CH

At 31 December 2014, secured bank loans bore interest at fixed
interest rates ranging from 7.20% to 9.98% per annum.

As at 31 December 2014, bank borrowing of RMB3,000,000 was
secured by the Group’s property, plant and equipment with carrying
amount of approximately RMB24,813,000. The remaining bank
borrowings RMB30,000,000 were secured by the Group’s land use
right with carrying amount of approximately RMB1,747,000; personal
guarantee provided by Mr. Wang; and the pledge of certain plant
and equipment of Nuoxin Engineering. Nuoxin Engineering was a
company owned by Mr. Wang. During the year ended 31 December
2015, the Group completed the acquisition of Nuoxin Engineering
from Mr. Wang (Note 35), and accordingly Nuoxin Engineering
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

Unsecured other loans represent loans due to non-controlling
shareholders of PRC subsidiaries of the Group and bear interest
at fixed rates ranging from 7.12% to 11.50% (2014: 7.12% to
11.50%) per annum. Interest expenses on unsecured other loans
to non-controlling shareholders of the subsidiaries amounted
to approximately RMB2,506,000 (2014: RMB3,118,000) to
Chengrong Investment (Note 40 (a)) and amounted to approximately
RMB1,588,000 (2014: RMB2,535,000) to Yangcheng Yangtai (Note
40 (a)) were charged to profit or loss within “finance costs” during the
year ended 31 December 2015.
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27. SRIT R HA

i
B TA

(%)

R-ZE—mE+=-A=+—8 " HiER
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A R ¥ 3,000,000 7T LA AN £ [ B T (B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

28. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES  28. RiEHA&IE

At 31 December 2015, the Group had obligations under finance R-ZE—AF+=-_A=+—8H ' &5£H
leases repayable as follows: BB AT REMNMRE RS
2015 2014
“B-5F —ZT-mE
Present Present
value of value of
the Total the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease

payments payments | payments  payments
RIKHAE BEHE ®EEE RIEHEE
ARHBRE fIR@E | (FNRE NG
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR%TR | ARETT ARETR

Within 1 year 1FR 31,985 37,675 29,145 30,935
After 1 year 1ERE2FER
but within 2 years 35,210 37,675 1,256 1,267
After 2 years 2FRESEN
but within 5 years 6,205 6,280 — -
73,400 81,630 30,400 32,202
Less: Total future B ARRME
interest expenses F B %E (8,230) (1,802)
Present value of MR EENG(E
lease obligations 73,400 30,400
The Group leases certain equipment for its operations under the AEBERBEREMOLHHES TRE
finance lease arrangements as detailed in note 20. These leases FAREBEE  FHEHNMFE20 - %
are classified as finance leases and have remaining lease term FMRNTHBARMERLD - RS
of 26 (2014: 1 to 13) months. 268A (ZF—1F 1 213EA) -
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29.

164

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

During the year, the Company issued HK$ denominated
zero-coupon convertible bonds with principal amount of
approximately HK$21,238,400 as part of the consideration for
acquisition of the Nuoxin Engineering Group (Note 35). The
convertible bonds have a maturity period of 5 years from the
issue date and are convertible at the option of the bondholder
into 94,142,021 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital
of the Company at a conversion price of HK$0.2256 per share.

The convertible bonds contain two components: liability and
equity elements. The equity element on initial recognition
amounted to approximately RMB10,544,000 was presented in
equity as part of the “convertible bonds reserve”. The effective
interest rate of the liability component of the convertible bonds
on initial recognition was 23.4% per annum.

No convertible bonds were converted during the year ended 31
December 2015.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 29. AIRARES (@)

The movement of the liability component of the convertible MR ESFBESNNERNZEEET
bonds for the year is set out below: N
2015 2014
—E-1F —E-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
At 1 January n—HA—H - —
Issued during the year RERNEETT 6,173 —
Effective interest expense charged B3k 2 B F B HIS 77 —
Exchange difference M H Z5E 54 -
At 31 December Rt+-—A=+—H 6,304 —
30. PROVISION 30. &

2015 2014
—E-1F —E-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
At 1 January ®—HA—H 4,546 3,430
Provision for the year FNEE 2,959 2,619
Amount utilised for the year FREFHZ A (893) (1,503)
At 31 December Rt+—-—A=+—H 6,612 4,546

SERERENHESFETE  WHEE

EREIRE -

The provision for production safety has been determined by the
directors to meet the production safety standards.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

31. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 31.
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMBRRTRAZFEHR

() S&HBRRE PR B A
ERREENBHMT :

(@) Current income tax recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the movements during

the year is as follows:

2015 2014
—B-hHF —E-HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREBFT
PRC EIT HEEEREHR
At 1 January Rn—H—H (901) (11,671)
Provision for the year RNEFE R (2,310) (747)
Under-provision in BEFERETE
respect of prior years - (540)
EIT paid for the year NEZEHBTEEMSH 1,749 12,057
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8~ (1,462) (901)
Income tax recoverable RERE AR TR
recognised in R AU Bl A
the consolidated 55
statement of
financial position 2,000 2,000
Income tax payable RERE AR T
recognised in TR R ETSH
the consolidated
statement of
financial position (3,462) (2,901)
Net tax payable FEfFIR)F R (1,462) (901)
|
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

31. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

31. HMEMBRRKRAZFEB

(%)

b CRIAELEHEEERAES

A M BARR R P R R LR
HEE/ (Af) 280 RERSE

position and the movements during the year are as NEVZ BT -
follows:
Fair value
adjustment
on prepaid
lease
Fair value payments Fair value
adjustment  forland adjustment
on property, under on
plantand operating intangible Convertible Withholding
equipment leases assets bonds tax Others Total
FEROT
nE KE B
RkiffEe  Heéz BREEZ
AYEEE LAVERE AVERE TARES 0 BB Htf @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR AR%TR AR®TR
At 1 January 2014 RZE-mE-A-A 118 (640) (77,497 - (3,445) (796)  (82,260)
Credited/(charged)to 3t A/ (MK B) B
profit or loss (108) 11 42,082 - (2,651) 217 39,611
At31December 2014  WZZ-NF
and 1 January 2015 +-A=Z+-8kK
—E-R%—-F-H 10 (629)  (35,415) - (6,096) (619) (42,649
Credited/(charged)to 3t A/ (MK B) Bz
profit or loss (118) 61 35415 13 9% 236 36,601
Credited/(charged) to equity 3T A / (1B &) 3% - - - (189 - - (189
Acquisition of subsidiaries BB A
(Note 35) (i 35) (3577)  (1.924) - - - - (5,501)
Exchange differences 5 EE - - - (15) - - (15)
At31December2015 R=-F-%f
+ZA=t-H (3,685) (2,492) - (1,894) (5,102) (283)  (13,456)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 2t — &

(Continued)

—mE+= A=+ — AR

31. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 31. ZEMBRAERAZAER
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (#&)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised b) ERAEEHBEEERER
(Continued) (#&)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances TR B E T = HEER
for financial reporting purposes: THEESRDT
2015 2014
—B-AF —E-HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Deferred tax assets N E R ERA
recognised in RBERIBEE
the consolidated
statement of
financial position 58 88
Deferred tax liabilities @Aﬁﬁﬁﬁimﬁ
recognised in RZBELERIBEIE
the consolidated
statement of
financial position (13,514) (42,737)
(13,456) (42,649)
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised © HMABAZELEHEEE
At 31 December 2015, the Group has not recognised R_E—HRF+_A=+—8"

deferred tax assets in respect of estimated cumulative tax
losses carried forward of approximately RMB50 million
(2014: RMB56 million) is due to expire within 1 to 5 years
under the current tax legislation for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the Group in which the losses
arise. The cumulative tax losses have not been recognised
as a deferred tax asset as it is not probable that future
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will

be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

168 CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED  Annual Report 2015

REBWREREEE (BT 25
MIEEE (EREBEEMHEBR
EEBEZ —ZRFRIEH - U
HEAEB AR 2 ERTGF)
# A R 50,000,000 ( = Z
— g AR %56,000,0007T)
BRMBELERIBEE - REFHE
ERUTAWEIRBELCHREE
E DHEREEEREREER
REBT A A ] HEERE 2
AR ERRT v | o
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 32. EXRK w#E
(@) Authorised and issued share capital (@ EEREBITRAE
2015 2014
—E-EF “E—F
Number Number
of shares Amount of shares Amount
RAEE 8 RinEE &8
’000 RMB’000 ‘000 RMB’000
TR AR¥ETR TR AR%®TT
Authorised ordinary SREEC.01 AT
shares of ETE R -
HK$0.01 each:
At 1 January and ®—HA—H
31 December k+=-A=+—~H 20,000,000 174,064 | 20,000,000 174,064
Issued and fully paid BEIRER
— Ordinary shares — BRAE
of HK$0.01 each: 0.01 T2 Ll -
At 1 January W—H—H 1,141,480 9,432 5,461,736 47,333
Issue of consideration BITRERR
shares (note (i) (BIzE () 178,004 1,478 — —
Issue of shares BRROEE
by share 17l (BEE()
placement (note (i) - - 880,000 6,924
Open Offer (note (i) NREE (W) - - | 3,170,868 24,923
Capital Reorganisation BRAEAR (P (i)
(note (i) - — | ©561344) (71262
Issue of shares BRRORBERITRG
by share (F3EG)
subscription (note (i)) - - 190,220 1,514
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 1,319,484 10,910 | 1,141,480 9,432

A

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s

residual assets.

EAEBFAEAGREDTHEIK
ZRERRAAREGHELZES
B—R IR - FTA BB
ARBZRBEEDZFAREE

S o

B
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32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

170

(a) Authorised and issued share capital
(Continued)

@i

Issue of ordinary shares
Year ended 31 December 2015

On 12 December 2015, the Company issued
178,004,166 ordinary shares of HK0.01 each
to Mr. Wang as part of the consideration for the
Nuoxin Engineering Acquisition during the year
(Note 35).

Year ended 31 December 2014 and prior to the
Share Consolidation set out in note (i) below

On 20 December 2013, Mr. Wang and the
placing agent entered into a placing agreement,
and the Company and Mr. Wang entered into
the subscription agreement, pursuant to which
() the placing agent has agreed to place, on
behalf of Mr. Wang and on a best effort basis,
an aggregate of up to 880,000,000 existing
shares (beneficially owned by Mr. Wang) to
not less than six placees at the placing price
of HK$0.092 per placing share; and (i) Mr.
Wang has conditionally agreed to subscribe
for, and the Company has conditionally agreed
to issue and allot, the subscription shares
at the subscription price of HK$0.092 per
subscription share.
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32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(a) Authorised and issued share capital
(Continued)

(i)

Issue of ordinary shares (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2014 and prior to the

Share Consolidation set out in note (i) below
(Continued)

The placing was completed on 30 December
2013 in accordance with the placing
agreement. An aggregate of 880,000,000
placing shares have been successfully
placed to not less than six placees who are
independent third parties, at the placing price
of HK$0.092 per placing share.

On 3 January 2014, 880,000,000 subscription
shares were allotted and issued to Mr. Wang
at the subscription price of HK$0.092 per
subscription share pursuant to the subscription
agreement dated 20 December 2013. The
net proceeds from the subscription are
approximately HK$79,658,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB62,700,000).

32. EXRK w#E &)
@ ZEERCBITRAE &)

() |TEBERE)
HE-_ZT—MOF+=AH
=+ —BUEFERRNEH
AT (B T P & (ii)) (&)

s B IR R & e
R-_ZE—=%+—A
Zt+HZEK & #
880,000,000 A% fid & A%
NERREEETR
Ao & A% 19 0.092 78 TTAK
NREFRIRANH
BB FE = 2R
A °

R-ZFE—NFEF—H=
H:EBREB#HAEZ
T—=F+-_A—-+
HeREHZE &R
HESRRBERS
0.0927% Jt Bid 8 K 3%
77880,000,0000% 2
BRHOTELE - R
BEIE S RIEF
EE#) /5 79,658,000/8
T(HERHDARKE
62,700,0007T) °
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32.

172

CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(a) Authorised and issued share capital
(Continued)

(i) Issue of ordinary shares (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2014 and after the Share

Consolidation set out in note (i) below

— An aggregate of 3,170,867,896 shares of the
Company were alloted on 6 February 2014
pursuant to an open offer of 3,170,867,896
new shares of HK$0.01 each on the basis of
one offer share for every two existing shares
held on the record date at the open offer price
of HK$0.04 per offer share (“Open Offer”).
The net proceeds from the Open Offer are
approximately HK$123,405,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB97,000,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(a) Authorised and issued share capital
(Continued)

(i)

Issue of ordinary shares (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2014 and after the Share

Consolidation set out in note (i) below (Continued)

On 15 April 2014, the Company and Kingsway
Financial Services Group Limited (the
“Arranger”) entered into an arranger agreement
(the “Arranger Agreement”) pursuant to which
the Company conditionally agrees to appoint
the Arranger as the sole arranger during the
period from the date of Arranger Agreement
up to the date of completion or 14 May 2014
(whichever is earlier) to procure, on a best
effort basis, investors to subscribe for the 10%
unsecured and unlisted fixed rate notes (the
“Notes”) for an aggregate principal amount
of up to HK$51 million at the issue price of
100% of the principal amount of the Notes (the
“Notes Issue”). Upon successful procurement
of the investors by the Arranger, a subscription
agreement will be entered into between the
Company as issuer and each investor as
subscriber in respect of the Notes Issue. The
Company proceeded with the Notes Issue and
on 16 April 2014, entered into the subscription
agreement with each of the subscribers of the
Notes in respect of the Notes Issue.

32. EXN#E &)
() EERCBITHRAE (£)

@i

BITEBR ()
HEz_Z—NU&E+ A
=+—BHLEFERRKDEH
& (FPA TSP sE (i) (&)
— RZE—@HFWNA
+HHBE ARAIEE
EoRREBR AR
(T2 AL FTL—18
ZHE AR ((ZHEA
Wzl Bt ~A
AAEKELRE  ®
ZHEAWZ B EER
FEAX BB T
FREATITH (AR
BERE) LHRZE
FLHEANRBE—LH
A RBERFTEEELE
REZEAUNZER
& F100% 2 3 11 B
RELrACHBBERER
51,000,000 JT & 1%
E B E10%:T B
ZEEARIFELTE
B (28] ([BH%
171) ° BHEABK R
EIREAREE K
~E (ERETA) &
HEEIREAN (EAR
BA) MEREITEIL
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32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

174

(a) Authorised and issued share capital
(Continued)

(i)

Issue of ordinary shares (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2014 and after the Share

Consolidation set out in note (i) below (Continued)

On 15 May 2014, the Company and the
subscribers (being also the subscribers of the
Notes in the aforesaid Arranger Agreement,
the “Subscribers”)) entered into separate
and independent subscription agreements
(the “Subscription Agreements”), pursuant
to which, the Subscribers have conditionally
agreed to subscribe for and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue and
aggregate of 190,220,000 subscription shares
at a price of HK$0.305 per subscription share
under the general mandate.

On 22 May 2014, due to an inadvertent mistake
relating to the calculation of subscription price,
the Company and the Subscribers entered
into separate and independent supplemental
deeds to the Subscription Agreements (the
“Supplemental Deeds”) pursuant to which, the
previous subscription price was amended to
HK$0.311.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(a) Authorised and issued share capital
(Continued)

(i)

Issue of ordinary shares (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2014 and after the Share

Consolidation set out in note (i) below (Continued)

Net proceed from the subscription of
190,220,000 subscription shares at a price of
HK$0.311 each amounted to approximately
HK$58,858,000. The consideration from
issuing the 190,220,000 subscription shares to
the Subscribers was settled by (i) received cash
settlement of approximately RMB6,492,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$8,158,000)
from the Subscribers; and (ii) the Company
extinguished the Notes with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$51 million. During the
year ended 31 December 2014, the Company
recognised a loss on extinguishment of financial
liability of approximately RMB57,024,000 in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2014 as a result of
the above debt equity swap.
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32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

176

(a) Authorised and issued share capital
(Continued)

(i)

Capital Reorganisation

On 3 March 2014, the board of directors proposed
a capital reorganisation to reorganise the share
capital of the Company by (i) consolidation of
every 10 issued existing shares into one issued
consolidated share (“Share Consolidation”); and (ii)
capital reduction of the issued share capital of the
Company through a cancellation of the paid-up
capital of the Company to the extent of HK$0.09 on
each of the issued consolidated shares such that
the nominal value of each issued consolidated share
will be reduced from HK$0.10 to HK$0.01 (“Capital
Reduction”) (together referred to as the “Capital
Reorganisation”). The credit arising in the books of
the Company from the cancellation of any fraction in
the issued share capital of the Company arising from
the Share Consolidation; and the reduction of the
paid-up capital of the Company will be credited to
the contributed surplus account of the Company.

The Capital Reorganisation was approved by
shareholders at a special general meeting of the
Company held on 9 April 2014 and became effective
on 12 May 2014. Every 10 existing issued shares
of HK$0.01 each are consolidated into 1 issued
consolidated share of HK$0.10 and paid-up capital
of the Company is reduced to the extent of HK$0.09
on each of the issued consolidated shares such that
the nominal value of each issued consolidated share
is reduced from HK$0.10 to HK$0.01. Immediately
following the Capital Reorganisation, the authorised
share capital of the Company is HK$200,000,000
divided into 20,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01
each, of which 951,260,368 shares of HK$0.01
each are in issue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

@i

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium
The application of share premium account is
governed by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

General reserve

According to the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC, each of the PRC subsidiaries is required
to appropriate at least 10% of its after-tax profit
(after offsetting prior years’ losses), based on the
PRC statutory financial statements prepared in
accordance with the generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) and financial regulations
applicable to PRC enterprises, to the general reserve
until the balance of the fund reaches 50% of the
PRC subsidiary’s registered capital. Thereafter, any
further appropriation can be made at the directors’
discretion.

The general reserve fund can be utilised to offset
the prior years’ losses, or be utilised to increase the
capital on the condition that the general reserve shall
be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered
capital after such increase.

Share options reserve

The share options reserve comprises the portion of
the grant date fair value of unexercised share options
granted to executive directors, employees and
consultants of the Group that has been recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for share-based payments in note 2 (q(ii).

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(u).
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

178

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(v) Convertible bonds reserve
The convertible bonds reserve represent the value of
unexercised equity component of convertible bonds
issued by the Company. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 2(m).

(c) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholders returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light
of changes in economic conditions. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
total debt to equity. Total debt comprises the Group’s
bank and other borrowings and obligations under
finance leases as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position. Equity comprises equity attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 32. EXRK w#E &)
() Capital managements (Continued) ) BEXERE (&)
The total debt to equity ratio as at 31 December 2015 and RZEB-—RFER-ZZT—MOF+=
2014 are as follows: BA=+—RzRaEHERLE
AT
2015 2014
—E-1F —E-mF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BRE ARETT ARET T
Bank and other borrowings 847 & E- A &K 27 43,080 87,500
Obligations under BLE AR KR IE
finance leases 28 73,400 30,400
Convertible bonds AT ES 29 6,304 =
Total debt FEN=NE 122,784 117,900
Equity attributable to RN B R o R SR A pE e
equity shareholders
of the Company 533,133 728,722
Total debt to equity ratio BEEHERIEE 23.03% 16.18%

——

—E-RFFR PEABREERRLF 179
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 3BP.URELELURODAER 2
TRANSACTIONS X5
The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was RAreERRERT S ([ZErEl)) IR
adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the BARNRRENR-_Z—FHA+/\B
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general BITHRRFRIAE LBALTERARER
meeting held on 18 May 2011 and will remain in force for a B R T FERARER R - %
period of 10 years. The purpose of the Scheme is to attract FFEIM B MRS RIEEESAE - [
and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional AEEMNES (2BEER) == -
incentive to employees (full-time and part-time), directors, B R A IR ERINE R - WRER
consultants and advisers of the Group and to promote the SEEBKI o

success of the business of the Group.

(@ The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows: @ FEERREGNT
Number Contractual
of options Vesting conditions life of options
BRERE SRR BRESHTH
Options granted:
BB
30 May 2011 27,957,078 Vest immediately 10 years
—E——FHA=+H B0 57 T
30 May 2011 5,596,092 50% are exercisable at 10 years

any time after the expiry of 1 year

from the date of grant

up to 2 years from the date of grant;

and 100% are exercisable at

any time after the expiry of

2 years from the date of

grant up to 10 years from

the date of offer.
—E——FHA=TH 50% AT IR B EREET M 1 £ &2 +F

o B AR ETM 2 FF BRREIRERS T

K 100% AT I A HARE ST M 2 F &

ZL A BARERHM 10 FHAREBE R 1T -

Total share options 33,553,170
granted
B R ERE
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33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

3B.UREEEURDHER 2

RP (&)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of (b) MR EE RNEFHITEE
share options are as follows: W
The following table discloses movements in the TEREEHZ_T—AFTH
Company’s share options under the Scheme during the =t+—RIEFEHFTEETZAR
year ended 31 December 2015: NRIEREZS) :
Number
Period during of share
which share Exercise  Outstanding options Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
options are price per  at1January granted during during during at 31 December
Date of grant exercisable share 2015 the year the year the year 2015
R-E-1f
R-B-1F EREH tZA=1-H
RuAH BRETARE  SRARE -A-BXAR  <BREMA FREFR  FREXX AR
HK$S
B
30/6/2011 30/6/2011-29/5/2021 381 27,632,328 - - - 271,632,328
30/6/2011 30/6/2012-29/5/2021 381 2,243,373 - - - 2,243,373
30/5/2011 30/5/2013-29/5/2021 381 2,243,373 - - - 2,243,373
32,119,074 - - - 32,119,074
Exercisable at the end of year
RERW{TE 32,119,074
Weighted average exercise price (HK9)
WEF1T(E (B 3.81 - - - 3.81
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 3BP.URELELURODAER 2
TRANSACTIONS (continued) RS (#)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of (b)) MEREZHE RINEFHITER

share options are as follows: (Continued)

The following table discloses movements in the
Company’s share options under the Scheme during the
year ended 31 December 2014:

Number

Period during of share

which share Exercise Qutstanding options

options are price per at1January  granted during

Date of grant exercisable share 2014 the year

R-F-IE FRREZ

UNNENE =)

TRBBRE_T—MF+=7
=+—BUEFER AT 24

NEIBREES)
Exercised Lapsed QOutstanding
during during ~ at 31 December
the year the year 2014
R-F-IF
tZA=1-H

=l BRENTRE  BROEE -A-BAOE  BREHE ERETE EREAM At
HK$
BT
30/5/2011 30/5/2011-29/5/2021 3.81 27,632,328 - - - 27,632,328
30/6/2011 30/5/2012-29/5/2021 3.81 2,243,373 - - - 2,243,378
30/5/2011 30/5/2013-29/5/2021 381 2,243,373 - - - 2,243,373
32,119,074 - - - 32,119,074
Exercisable at the end of year
RERWTE 32,119,074
Weighted average exercise price (HK9)
IWEF1T(E (B 3.81 - - - 3.81
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33. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

The number and weighted average exercise prices of
share options are as follows: (Continued)

No new share options were granted to eligible participants
under the Scheme during the years ended 31 December
2015 and 2014.

No share options were exercised during the years ended
31 December 2015 and 2014.

The options outstanding at 31 December 2015 had an
exercise price of HK$3.810 (2014: HK$3.810) and a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 5.4 (2014:
6.4) years.

Fair value of share options granted to consultants

The Company measures the fair value of share options
granted to consultants by reference to the fair values of
services rendered. During the years ended 31 December
2015 and 2014, no share option expenses was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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RP (&)
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34.

184

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT
PLAN

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000 (starting from June 2014). Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

The Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC participate
in a mandatory central pension scheme organised by the PRC
Government for certain of its employees, the assets of which are
held separately from those of the Group. Contributions made
are based on a percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the scheme. The employer’s
contributions vest fully once they are made.

Under the above schemes, retirement benefits of existing
and retired employees are payable by the relevant scheme
administrators and the Group has no further obligations beyond
the annual contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT
PLAN (Continued)

The aggregate amounts of employer’s contributions by the
Group in respect of retirement benefits scheme dealt with in
profit or loss for the year are disclosed in note 7(a) to these
consolidated financial statements.

The Group does not have any other pension schemes for its
employees in respect of the subsidiaries outside Hong Kong
and the PRC. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2015 and 2014 in respect of the retirement of its
employees.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Pursuant to an acquisition agreement dated 12 October 2015
entered into between Shanxi Yangcheng (as purchaser) and
Mr. Wang (as vendor) (the “Acquisition Agreements”), the
Group acquired from Mr. Wang the entire equity interest in
Nuoxin Engineering for a consideration of RMB50,300,000 (the
“Nuoxin Engineering Acquisition”) which was settled (i) as to
approximately RMB32,900,000 by way of allotment and issue
of 178,004,166 consideration shares, credited as fully paid, at
an issue price of approximately HK$0.2256 per consideration
share; and (ii) as to approximately RMB17,400,000 by way
of issue of convertible bonds in the principal of approximately
HK$21,348,000 convertible up to 94,142,021 conversion
shares at a conversion price of HK$0.2256 per conversion
share.

Nuoxin Engineering and its subsidiary (collectively referred
to as the “Nuoxin Engineering Group”) is mainly engaged in
the manufacture and sale of PE gas pipeline, metal model in
construction use, mining machine, road compacting machine,
crane and exhaust fan for natural gas.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)  35. WIBHIB AT (&)

The Nuoxin Engineering Acquisition constituted a discloseable BEREIZER ETRA - HBERESER
and connected transaction on the part of the Company under RARB—HATHENEERS B
the GEM Listing Rules and the ordinary resolution relating HE@rARREN S —AF+=
thereto was passed by the shareholders of the Company at a A= AETHRRSIAE LERAR]
special general meeting held on 3 December 2015. The Nuoxin IRERAA - HEREEEEN_-_Z—1
Engineering Acquisition was completed on 11 December 2015. F+-A+—HZK °
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RUER B B EE R E R
acquisition: f& :
RMB’000
ARBT T
Property, plant and equipment (Note 17)  #1% ~ #28 &3&#8 (BI5E17) 39,566
Prepaid lease payments for land wERLHTERN LA S (FIFE18)
under operating leases (Note 18) 11,390
Inventories FE 519
Trade and other receivables JE STBR 3k K LA E U SR TR 1,192
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEYD 313
Trade and other payables JE A~ BR RN K% L Ath FE - RRIE (4,604)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 31) REFRIAEEE (FiEE31) (5,501)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities A#BFEERARE 42,875
Goodwill on acquisition (Note 15) BRAWE 2 E (3E15) 3,551
Consideration rRE 46,426
Total consideration satisfied by: BREATIISEER
Consideration shares RERMR 29,709
Convertible bonds (Note 29) MR ES (K13E29) 16,717
46,426
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WHESIB 2R eMAEEE
Cash and cash equivalents acquired Friiig e e RIReEEY 313
Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately £ AR ¥ 454,000 7T EL UK B 18 B8 Y A AR
RMB454,000 had been excluded from the consideration EREEEIRERR - WERAREF
transferred and had been recognised as an expense in the ERTHRAXPHERA—IERX °

current year, within administrative expenses.
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continueq)

The fair value of receivables acquired, which principally
comprised trade and other receivables approximated their gross
contractual amounts. There were no contractual cash flows not
expected to be collected.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition amounted to
approximately RMB$3,551,000 which was mainly attrioutable
to (i) the difference between the agreed issue price of the
consideration shares and convertible bonds and their
acquisition-date fair value; and (i) deferred tax liabilities arising
from the fair value exercise of the land and property, plant and
equipment as at the completion date.

The Nuoxin Engineering Group contributed revenue of
RMB nil and loss of approximately RMB63,000 to the Group’s
revenue and results for the period from date of acquisition to
31 December 2015. If the acquisition had been completed
on 1 January 2015, the Group’s total revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2015 would had been approximately
RMB329,120,000 and loss for the year ended 31 December
2015 would had been approximately RMB257,149,000. This
pro forma information was for illustrative purposes only and
was not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2015, nor
was it intended to be a projection of future results.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36. €@ I A%

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial AEERRERARNZHEeMIAZK
instruments of the Group as at the end of the reporting period HERT :

are as follows:

2015 2014
—E-HE —EF—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREET T
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at fair value B ERTAEBZD
through profit or loss: ZEMEE
Held for trading HIEEE 200 200
Loans and receivables: B EWGRIA -
Trade and other receivables P K BR SR K LAt R U SRR 34,996 41,854
Cash and cash equivalents Re MIReEEY 45,437 43,930
Financial liabilities cRIEE
At amortised cost: LA $E K A1) BR -
Trade and other payables JE AT BR R 2 ELAth B A< 5RIE 343,664 361,505
Bank and other borrowings ER1T R H AL SR 43,080 87,500
Obligations under finance leases B & H E&IE 73,400 30,400
Convertible bonds AR E 5 6,304 —

——
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, trade and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, bank
and other borrowings, obligations under finance leases and
convertible bonds. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include credit risk, liquidity risk,
interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure
in respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risks.

(@) Credit risk

()  As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position after deducting any
impairment allowance.
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37. TR T R MR RAREER
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

190

(@) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

In respect of trade and other receivables, in order to
minimise risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations
of its customers’ financial position and condition
are performed on each major customer periodically.
These evaluations focus on the customers’ past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customers as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customers
operate. The Group does not require collateral in
respect of its financial assets. Trade debts are usually
due within 30 to 180 days from the date of billing.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The default risk of the industry and country
in which customers operate also has an influence
on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of
the reporting period, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk as only 5.67% of the
total trade receivables was due from the Group’s five
largest customers.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade
and other receivables are set out in note 24.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. EM T A MBERERER

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ANYE &)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
() Liquidity risk (b) REBESERE

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of
loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to board
to directors’ approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants to ensure that
it maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term. The Group relies on bank and other borrowings as a
source of liquidity.

The following tables set out the weighted average effective
interest rate and the remaining contractual maturities at the
end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the
Group can be required to pay:

—E-AFFR PEABREEERLD

AEBEETZBYEEERAR
BEERBEZHRSER  B8FRe
B2 EHREREREER M
RIEMBEEFNR  EEEEES
HETEHEE - XAEEZBRD
EHERENLBAZADES
FXR - RETEERZHZBER
NHERAEBERERTONIRS
TR RN S BB RS R SR &
HEERE  WneHEHRLE
RSB 2 BK - AEEIKHE
RITREMERERRBDEZK
R e

TREIAEEZIFTESRE
ER & HIR 2 i ¥ B A
RRBTAEKE - HERAHR
BB R (BRERANF X
2 (Wi R) WBEHR2IERT
MERFBEZFEMNR) RAKE
ATEEZHFRHMERE :
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

192

37. TR T R B RABEER

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ANYEE &)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) b REBESRE (&)
'd N\
2015 014
- 1 5[k
Weighted Morethan ~ More than Total Weighted Morethan  More than Totd
average Within ~ 1yearbut 2yearshut contractual average Wit~ Tyearbut  2yearsbut  contractual
effective ~ fyearor  lessthan lessthan undiscounted  Canying efectie  fyearor  lessthan  lessthan undiscounted  Camying
interest rate  on demand 2years Syears cashflows  amount| interestrate  ondemend 2 years Syears  cash flows amount
%  RMB000  RMB'OO0  RMB'00  RMB'0O0  RMB'000 %  RMBO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBO00
il 357 15/ T 145R@
ERAE 3R 1ENL 2L A4AER Ui ES - S i 7
% BRRE 2EMn  SEMR REWEEE  REE % EXEE  25MR oERN RENEME  BEE
AEMTR  ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR MRETL  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Tiade payables EHER NATER 130059 - - 13008 10089 NATEE %61 - - Q66 861
Amouts duetodiectors~ ERTEE3TR NATER 1462 - - 468 1468 NATER a4 - - o a4
Amounts due o EfHEAT
fon-<ontoling HERRRTA
shareholders of subsidiaries NATER 7407 - - 1497 7407 NATER 8987 - - 8987 8987
Accrued expenses BHRRR
and oher payebles EfEATE NATER 388 - - M M| NATER 478 - -4 s
Payables for acouistonof &M% -
property,pant BERRE
and equipment LEREE NATER 197642 - - foIpM  TeA2| NATER 221200 - - mu 2120
Bank and otherborowings - $AREREE
(Note 27) (z27) 142t 115% 51,075 - - 51,075 43,080 | 7:12t011 5% 93924 - - 9394 87,500
Obliations under HEREAE
fanceleases Note 28]~ (Fi£28) 1008% 3615 31675 6280 81630 TBA0| 1241% 0 1267 - R N
Converthle bonds T45ES
Note 29) () 2.4% - - 17400 17400 6304 | NATER - - - - -
432,404 31,675 2680 493799 466438 486,364 1267 - Tes 419406

J
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates to primarily
to its fixed-rate borrowings. The cash flow interest rate
risk of the Group relates primarily to their variable-rate
bank deposits and obligations under finance leases. The
management considers that the exposure to interest
rate risk on bank deposits is insignificant. For borrowings
which are fixed-rate instruments is insensitive to any
change in interest rates. A change in interest rates at the
end of the reporting period would not affect profit or loss.
The cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of the interest rate to be promulgated by
the PBOC arising from the Group’s RMB denominated
obligations under finance leases. The Group currently
does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However,
the management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2015, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in the interest
rate, with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group’s loss for the year by
approximately RMB346,000 (2014: RMB233,000). The
sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss for the year that would arise in
respect of the exposure to cash flow interest risk arising
from floating rate obligations under finance lease held by
the Group.

37. TR T R MR RAREER
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

194

(d) Currency risk

@i

Exposure to currency risk

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies.
All foreign exchange transactions involving RMB
must take place through PBOC or other institutions
authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange. The
exchange rate adopted for foreign exchange
transactions are the rates of exchange quoted by
the PBOC that would be subject to a managed float
against an unspecified basket of currencies.

Foreign currency payments, including the remittance
of earnings outside the PRC, are subject to the
availability of foreign currency (which depends on
the foreign currency denominated earnings of the
Group) or must be arranged through the PBOC with
government approval.

The group entities collect most of the revenue
and incur most of expenditures in their respective
functional currencies. The directors consider that
the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s
transactions are denominated in the functional
currency of each individual group entity. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exposure should the need arise.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s major monetary assets
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are as
follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. ERMTECHKERBEER
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL YNSZ-NE )
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) o E¥RRE (&)
(i) Exposure to currency risk (Continued) () EBmEpaERE(E)
Exposure to foreign currency
B E SRR
2015 2014
—E-1F —E-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Cash and cash ReMReZED
equivalents 2,322 2,200
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BREDH

The following table indicates the approximate change TRHA  RBEHKR - *5H
in the Group’s loss for the year and accumulated FABEBRERFTEEREARE
losses in response to reasonably possible changes DN EZEREBEE &
in the foreign exchange rates to the Group’s major R EBEBEREREMEE BN
monetary assets denominated in foreign currency at BE o

the end of the reporting period.

2015 2014
“E-n% —T-mE
Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) Effect on (decrease) Effect on
in foreign loss and in foreign loss and
exchange accumulated exchange accumulated

rates losses rates losses

Exts/ HEERR: | EX LA/ HEBEBERRE
(Tk) HERz¥E (T¥k) BEzPE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTTT

Hong Kong dollars 7870 5% (116) 5% (110)
(5)% 116 (5)% 110
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

196

(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period
and had been applied to the Group’s exposure to
currency risk for financial instruments in existence
at that date, and that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain constant. Results of the
analysis as presented in the above table represent
an aggregation of the effects on each of the group
entities’ profit/loss for the year. The stated changes
are used when reporting currency risk internally to
key management and represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in
foreign exchange rates over the period until the
end of the next reporting period. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2014.

(e) Other price risk

Oil and gas price risk

Apart from the financial instruments disclosed above, the
Group’s activities expose it to market risk relating to oil
and gas price risks.

The Group is engaged in a wide range of gas related
activities. The global oil and gas market is affected by
international political, economic and global demand for
and supply of oil and gas. A decrease in the world prices
of cruel oil and gas could adversely affect the Group’s
financial position. The Group has not used any derivative
instruments to hedge against potential price fluctuations of
crude oil and refined and gas products. The management
will consider hedging oil and gas price exposure should
the need arise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(A Fair value measurement

(i)

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured
at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as
defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The
level into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

° Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date.

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

198

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(M Fair value measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured

37. TR T AECHKRKRERER
YNSR=RE))

" DEEFTE#E)

@i

BAVEITEZEMEER

at fair value (Continued) cRasE (&)
Recurring fair value measurements KEEAFEFE
( 2015 ) 2014
—B-1F —E-mF
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
REE AYE FREE ATE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥TR | ARBTT ARETT
Assets EE
Financial assets at fair ~ RATEFABRIEHEE
value through profit
or loss 200 200 200 200

A

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is classified as Level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the
end of the reporting period.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(M Fair value measurement (Continued)

(ii)

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are
not materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2014 and 2015 except for the following
financial instruments, for which their carrying
amounts and fair value and the level of fair value
hierarchy are disclosed below:

37. SR T ACHKRKREER
NEE#)

®» DEEFTE#E)

(ii)

WIR N FEIIRZ ERME

EkemE8EzATE

RZBE—NFR-FT—AF
+ZA=+—8 " ~£E%
PR ZN S SH A AR BR 2 &
TAZEREERENTER
BEAEZER  MUTE&MI
AN AREBEEATE
IERAFEERZEREE

2014
—T-mE
Carrying Fair
amount value
REE AVHE

M
2015
“E-n%
Carrying Fair
amount value
EEE AYE

RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR

RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTL

Financial liabilities =
Convertible bonds ARk ES

6,304

8,243

A

The fair values of the liability component in
convertible bonds are estimated as being the present
values of future cash flows, discounted at interest
rates based on the government yield curve as at
the end of the reporting period plus an adequate
constant credit spread, adjusted for the Group’s own
credit risk.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

—mE+= A=+ — AR

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(M Fair value measurement (Continued)

(ii)

Fair value of financial assets and financial

liabilities carried at other than fair value

37. TR T R B RABREER

NEE &)

DVEFE (@)

I IR N FES IR 2 & Bl
EERERMEEZAFE

®

(ii)

(Continued) (%)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed EREATEZEE
Fair value measurements as at Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2015 categorised into 31 December 2014 categorised into
R=B-EF+=B=t-H2R RZZ-ME+-A=+-A%A
UM ERI 2 AVERE TRl AR B
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 | Fairvalue Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
DVHE E14 E2fh B3| | NATE F18 FEok ERT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 | RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARMTR ARMTR AR®TR ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
Liabilites ~ &f&
Convertible  W#RES
bonds 8,243 - - 8,243 - - - -
38. COMMITMENTS 38. AiE

(@)
in note 20, the Group had th

In addition to the finance lease arrangements as detailed

e following significant capital

commitments contracted but not provided for in the

M 20t 2 EHE R
BESN  REBERZEEMBREAE
FIHIMER B 2 EREARIEMN

(@)

consolidated financial statements: ™~
2015 2014
—E-HF —ZT—mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®TT
Acquisition of property, B2 - AR B
plant and equipment (BIEFEETIRR)
(including construction
in progress) 143,000 146,899
|
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

38. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of office premises are payable as follows:

38. &IE (&)

b)) RBEHRKR REPRLEVEZ
N HEREHOEN 2 B &
[EHERIBRRENT

2015 2014
—E-FHF —FT—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Within 1 year 1R 540 76
After 1 year but within 5 years 1 F1185F X 85 —
625 76

The Group leases a property held under operating lease
with lease terms of one to two years. None of the leases
includes contingent rentals.

39. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s shareholding in Shanxi
Qinshui were pledged. Details of the Group’s pledge of other
assets are included in notes 17 and 18 respectively.

AEFRKEHENEEDE - A
IR —EMEF - ARAEOLTH
BEMSAEE

39. EEKHF
R-E—FAEFE+-A=+—H8 r&EE
RUTELKE R AEE VEIRR - NEE 2

Hitp & EE B B ENMEE 17 R
18 °
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

For the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, the
directors are of the view that the followings are related parties of
the Group:

Name of party Relationship

KGR RIS EBREEAR Effectively owned 17%

(transliterated as equity interest in
Shanxi Qinshui Prefecture Wanzhi Logistics as
Chengrong Investment Limited) a non-controlling
(“Chengrong Investment”) shareholder of

a subsidiary and provided
financing to the Group of
RMB30,000,000 as
disclosed in note 27.

G RGBT EGR AR Effectively owned 20%

(transliterated as equity interest in
Yangcheng Yangtai Group Yangcheng Huiyang as
Industrial Company Limited) a non-controlling
(“Yangcheng Yangtai”) shareholder of

a subsidiary and provided
financing to the Group of
RMB13,080,000 as
disclosed in note 27.

N BRKBE IR ARTE AR AR]  Effectively owned 20%

(transliterated as equity interest in
Zhengzhou Zhengcheng Yangcheng Huiyang as
Energy Technology Service a non-controlling
Company Limited) shareholder of
(“Zhengzhou Zhengcheng”) a subsidiary.
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40. EXBEALRS

BE_T—hAFEK_ZF—NF+=A4
=+t—HIEFE  EFRAETINEHA
AEBZBAEAL

EBEEHERE BE

WKEER  (ER—RKEAR

REBR IR R E R

EXEa/NG] BEEER

(TERIRE ) W17% AR -
KRR EHE
RHESARE

30,000,000 7t (4A
MIsE27 FriEE) -

PR CES TER—MRM B LR

SEEX IR R B R

BRAT EAGWER

(TE3WiFE3R])  #920% BeAtgss -
KA E
REES AR

13,080,000 7T (%A
MisE o7 Frifss) o

MINEAREIR  ER—EHEAT
AT AR Z IR B
BRAR] HAGWERS
(TERMNERC])  H20% B A tEss -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 40. ERBEEALIRS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(a) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed in (a) BRERE MR E AL DT B E
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the MRS REHRIN REBBERIL
Group entered into the following material related party THEREEATRS °
transactions.
Name of related party Nature of transaction 2015 2014
BEALEZRE REME —E-RE —ZT—JuF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Yangcheng Yangtai Sales of LNG (Note (i) 2,533 10,937

K59k 5 2= HERIERAR (BIEE®)

Nuoxin Engineering (Note (ii)) Purchase of materials (Notes (i) and (i) 2,248 4,873

#a1E (M) BEME (BEE 6 & i)

| —

Notes: MisE

0] The transaction were based on terms between the parties i) RS TIRIBREE T 2 HAGFE
involved. 1T °

(i)  Nuoxin Engineering was a company owned by Mr. Wang. iy FHEATEEBRBIAR FA K&
During the year, the Group completed the acquisition of Nuoxin BR-_ZE—AF+_A+—HAZKATE
Engineering from Mr. Wang on 11 December 2015 (Note 35), FEWRERE (MFE3s) - Bt - #1E
and accordingly Nuoxin Engineering became a wholly-owned RARER Z2EWNBAF -

subsidiary of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 40. EXBEAERS (4

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Balances with related parties (b) BEEEA LTz

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group and the
Company had the following balances with related parties:

(i) Amounts due from related companies

K=Z-EFR-F-ME+=
A=+—R AEBRAAAR
BEALATIIES ¢

() EREEEXTRE

Maximum
amount
outstanding
during
the year
FARS
REESHE
2015 2014
—ZE-0F —T—F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBFT AR®T R
Yangcheng Yangtai CriEs 7,261 8,510 8,510
Nuoxin Engineering M B - 2,585 2,585
7,261 11,095
-

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.
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40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Amount due from a director

40. ERBEEALIRS (&)

b) EEREEALT &R (&)
(i) EWESFE

Maximum
amount
outstanding
during
the year
FRARS
REESH
2015 2014
—E-HF —ZE—OF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBFT ARBTR
Wang Zhong Sheng T BB - 3,536 3,536

The amount due from a director was unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due to directors/non-controlling

shareholders of subsidiaries

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

ZIEWE IR QR -
B NBRERERE -

(i) FERES HWBARZHE

PR AR ER K

b=

RERBRFBARELR - 2
BRARERER -

—E-REER FEEEREEARLE 205



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk B 5 A WY ik

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

40.

206

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company'’s directors
and the chief executive as disclosed in note 9 and certain
of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 10, is
as follows:

40. ERBEEALIRS (&)

(c)

FEEBAEZHM

REEBFZERBABZHFM (B2
FEA RPN R 108 E 2
ENARFIEE  &STBRAE
RETERSHWMES 25E) 1
T

2015 2014
—E-FHF —F—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Short-term employee benefits %2 Hi{E 8 18 7 2,247 2,314
Post-employment benefits BB 12 137 51 66
Total remuneration is included #EM#&ZEET A
in “staff costs” (Note 7(a)) [BTIAA(MEE7(0) 2,298 2,380
|
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bl —F—AF +=H=1+—HIF/F

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 41, AR F 2 MBARRR K

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE

]

COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the Company AT Z AR K
2015 2014
— —TmE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment I Y 2,909 1,990
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AR ZIKE 232,963 407,537
235,872 409,527
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries R B A RIFOE 292,514 302,263
Amount due from a director RN E = F0E 2,951 1,253
Prepayment and other receivables TE - /I8 I E At FE UL IR 11,608 10,837
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 9,531 19,600
316,604 333,953
Current liabilities RBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERT B A B R IE 6,969 19,261
Amounts due to directors BT EEFIA 1,051 993
Accruals and other payables FEEHE A & B AR IR 3,580 3,467
11,600 23,721
Net current assets REBEEEE 305,004 310,232
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 540,876 719,759
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Convertible bonds AR E S 6,304 —
Deferred tax liabilities RETIEAE 2,555 933
8,859 993
Net assets BEFE 532,017 718,826
Capital and reserves BEARR#HE
Share capital & A 10,910 9,432
Reserves (et 521,107 709,394
Total equity RS 532,017 718,826

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

29 March 2016.

EEenN T AR"FZA-tB#LE

R SRR T

Wang Zhong Sheng Fu Shou Gang
Y HEH
Director Director
EE EE
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Reserve movement of the Company

Details of the changes in the Company’s individual components

4. KRB 2B BEMRRR R IHE
2E (2

KRB ZHEEE

ARATHER I RER DR F IR FEL

of reserve between the beginning and the end of the year are ZEEFIBEINT ¢
set out below:
Convertible
Share  Translation Contributed Share option bonds Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total
iRk
RVEE  RERE EHER BRERE B5EE  ZHEE )
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
AEETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETRn ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2014 R-E-WE-R-B2EHR 1,184,921 (938) - 30,849 - (45709 THTT37
Loss for the year EREE - - - - — (348655 (348659)
Other comprehensive expense EREMRERR
for the year - (1,623) - - - - (1,629)
Total comprehensive expense ER2ERZLE
fo he year ) - - - peesE (0279
Issue of new shares R
— Share placerent and subscription ~— — RIVEE 7 159,624 - - - - - 159,624
— Open Offer —RF%E \ 74,769 - - - - - 74,769
Transaction costs attrbutable to HIHROEER AR
issue of new shares (3,720) - - - - - (3,720)
Capital Reorganisation RAEH (1,312,743 - 1,384,005 - - - 71,262
Transfer B2 - - (199,167) - - 799167 -
Balance at 31 December 2014 RZZ-MET=A=1-H
and 1 January 2015 RoE-T5-A-BZEH 10085t 06T 58481 30849 - 6589 700304
Loss for the year EnEiE - - - - - (231333 (281,333
Other comprehensive expense for the year FRE 2 AT - 6,163 - - - - 6,163
Total comprehensive expense for the year FR2EFX 25 - 6,163 - - - 231333 (225,170)
Issue of consideration shares SIRERD . 28,231 - - - - - 28,231
Recognition of equity componentof AR {EH 2 R (A
convertible bonds - - - - 10,044 - 10,544
Deferred tax relating to convertible bonds 5 7R E% 2 EXTHA - - - - (1,892) - (1,892)
Balance at 31 December 2015 R-%-1F
+-Azt-AzkH 131,082 3602 GBAS1B 30840 865 (31016 521107
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR R S

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Reserve movement of the Company (Continued)

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2014, pursuant to the special
resolution passed by the shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 9 April 2014, the Company approved to cancel the
share premium account and transfer credits arising from such cancellation
to the contributed surplus account of the Company.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 7 January 2016, the Company announced its proposal to
raise not less than approximately HK$119.41 million and not
more than approximately HK$122.74 million (before expenses
and after taking into account of the set-off arrangement in
which part of the subscription price payable by Mr. Wang and
his associates under the open offer will be set-off against the
convertible bonds issued to Mr. Wang relating to the Nuoxin
Enginnering Acquisition (Note 35)), by way of open offer of not
less than 3,958,453,602 and not more than 4,053,836,574 offer
shares of HK$0.01 each at the subscription price of HK$0.035
per offer share on the basis of three offer shares for every one
existing share held on the record date and payable in full on
application. Up to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the open offer has not yet completed.

On 15 March 2016, the Company announced its proposal to
implement the share consolidation on the basis that every ten
existing Shares of HK$0.01 each in the issued and unissued
share capital of the Company be consolidated into one new
Share of HK$0.10 each in the issued and unissued share
capital of the Company. Up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, the share consolidation has
not yet completed.

41.

42.

—E-AFFR PEABREEERLD

KA 2B BEAR TR R A E
28 (2

KRBz RHERE (@)
B3 -

BE-Z-—HWFE+-_A=+—HILFE - 1R
RN - E—FMNANBRITZARAMER
FRIREG LBBZ BFRARRSR - AARIEHE
SRR ER - WASA BT E S 2 R
BEBREARFZEHBHRE -

BREMRER

RZE—R"F—AER AQAF
i HEZBRERCHBSEEEE—
BMIBEBRMER =ZRBEERMH 2 H
2 LEREERK0.035E TR
88 N R 8T 58,958,453,602
REBREMEICOIB T ZEERMN K
N % 1 4,053,836,574 % & % @ &
0QO1BLzBEERN AN BEET
D #9119,410,00078 7T &2 1~ % 1A 4
122,740,000 7T (RHBRFA X « ML
TSR HE) - WAR BB
;o MEEEREBEATEREAHR
BEX N2 B RBEGAREENE
FHEHR T EEBT 2 IRKRESFEH
(KI3E35) - HEH AN EFHRE T HR
xZBH - RABEHRTK o

R-_ZE—AREZA+HB  AQFE
o BEEFRIEADRC BT R REITR
AP EH+RSREMEIOIEBLZES
‘D EHARARBEBITRAEITRA
< — R EREECIOE T 2FKRHh 2
EEEBRMDNE O - BHEMEUFRE
IRz BE - BRI EHFHE AT o

|
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

43. IMMEDIATE PARENT AND ULTIMATE 43. EEB QAR RRAERAS
CONTROLLING PARTY
At 31 December 2015, the directors consider the immediate R-Z—RAF+_A=+—"H EEFR
parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Jumbo AASEEERES AR REXERA RS
Lane Investments Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI. BIREABRAR  ERRBELHST
Jumbo Lane Investments Limited does not produce financial Mz - EEREBR AR ERRM
statements available for public use. RBRER 2 AFBEHRE ©
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
TAE 05 10 2

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt —F—AF +=H=1+—HILFE

RESULTS E S
For the year ended 31 December
BEZ+-HA=1+—-HLEE
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
ZB-RF | —T-WE —T-=fFf T _—T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR | ARKETT AREBTRT ARETT AR®TRT
Turnover S 329,120 301,119 187,184 183,834 253,849
Loss from operations REXBESE 2 ER (44,971) (64,559) (76,196) (26,913) (15,036)
Finance costs B%ER (14,324) (16,057) (27,657) (7,214) (8,762)
Fair value (loss)/gainon ~ Hfit & @& E
other financial assets ZAYHE (BR) / - - - (17,051) 17,051
Wiz
Fair value (loss)/gain AR ESFITET A2
on the derivative ZRFHE (BE) /
component of gy
convertible bonds - — — — (6,487)
Loss on extinguishment  FIEE@mEBEZERE
of financial liability - (567,024) — — —
Impairment loss EERERE
on goodwil (3,551)|  (104,298) (163,000) (2,339) (21,492)
Impairment loss on BRAERERBE
intangible assets (134,385) (138,702) (25,000) — —
Impairment loss on M - HER
property, plant and HEREEE
equipment (92,086) — — — —
Loss before taxation BRIAIE B (289,317) (380,640) (291,853) (53,517) (34,726)
Income tax FrisdiEe,/ (F%)
credit/(charge) 34,291 38,324 13,092 (7,945) (14,609)
Loss for the year AEEEBE (255,026) (342,316) (278,761) (61,462) (49,335)
Attributable to: THIREL
Equity shareholders ARAERIRER
of the Company (235,943) (333,348 (271,440 (55,130) (45,016)
Non-controlling JEPERRE o
interests (19,083) (8,968) (7,321) (6,332) (4,319
Loss for the year REEZEE (255,026) (342,316) (278,761) (61,462) (49,335)
|
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+=—A=1—HIFE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 December
R+=A=+-H
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
“E-RfF | ZTWE =—T-=Ff =T ZT——F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR | ARETT ARBTT ARETT AR®TRT
Total assets BEE 1,031,530 1,283,223 1,506,671 1,545,761 1,396,942
Total liabilities ma s (511,126)|  (548147)  (685922)  (523,058) (315,545
Non-controlling ES g
interests 12,729 (6,354) (15,322) (22,643) (28,975)
Equity attributable to RRrERRE
equity shareholders fEEHE R
of the Company 533,133 728,722 805,427 1,000,060 1,052,422
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